# About Fitting Eeed

The use of poultry litter as cattle feed is dangerous because it creates a risk for Mad Cow Disease, bacterial and viral illness, antibiotic resistance, and exposure to toxic substances. This practice threatens both animal and human health. It commonly occurs in regions of the country where cattle and poultry operations co-exist. This report provides the first comprehensive review of this essentially unregulated agricultural practice. With so much at stake, the federal government no longer can afford to turn a blind eye to the dangers posed by filthy cattle feed.

Food Animal Concerns Trust (FACT) is a Chicago-based nonprofit organization whose mission is to improve the welfare of food producing animals. We seek to broaden opportunities for humane farmers; and address public health problems that come from the production of meat, milk and eggs. FACT was at the table in 1996 with scientists and regulatory officials when Mad Cow Disease in cattle was first linked to neurological disease in people. Since then, FACT has given testimony, participated in stakeholder meetings, submitted comments, and otherwise encouraged the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to enact the strictest controls possible to prevent the spread of the disease.

> Food Animal Concerns Trust PO Box 14599 Chicago, IL 60614 (773) 525-4952 www.foodanimalconcerns.org www.filthyfeed.org

The risky and unregulated practice of feeding poultry litter to cattle

Filiny

Filthy Feed

The Risky and Unregulated Practice of

Feeding Poultry Litter to Cattle

BAC'I

FACT

# poultry litter

Feed

Published 2009 Food Animal Concerns Trust

All rights reserved

About the Authors:

# Filthy Feed

The Risky and Unregulated Practice of Feeding Poultry Litter to Cattle

FACT's Mission

currently an epidemiologist with the Oregon Public Health Division.

Our mission is to improve the welfare of food producing animals. We seek to broaden opportunities for humane farmers, and address the public health problems that come from the production of meat, milk, and eggs.

Steven Roach is the Program Director of the Public Health Program. Lisa Isenhart

serves as a Program Associate for FACT's Humane Farming Program and coordinates the Keep Antibiotics Working (KAW) coalition. Larissa McKenna is FACT's Associate Director and works on issues related to humane farming. Margaret Cunningham is

This report is a project of Food Animal Concerns Trust; Richard Wood, Executive Di-

#### FACT's Vision

rector

Our vision is that all farms will one day be healthy and humane places for farm animals to live.

More information about Food Animal Concerns Trust is available on the FACT website at <u>www.foodanimalconcerns.org</u>.

The full text of this report is available online (in PDF format) at <u>www.filthyfeed.org</u> or may be obtained either by emailing info@foodanimalconcerns.org or calling (773) 525-4952.

Design by Kyle Spencer

Layout by Jacki Rossi, FACT's Public Education Coordinator.

Steven Roach Lisa Isenhart Larissa McKenna Margaret Cunningham

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements

Executive Summary

Chapter 1: A Dangerous Practice

Is this what you want your dinner to be eating?

Growth of the poultry industry

A brief regulatory history of poultry litter feeding

Current estimates

Crop prices, fuel practices, and possible expansion of litter feeding

Chapter 2: Mad Cow Disease: policy, science, history and litter

A brief history of regulatory protections against the spread of BSE A flawed approach to assessing the risk associated with litter feeding Prion resistance to degradation Distribution of infectivity in feed The impact of soil particles on prion infectivity

Chapter 3: Health Risks: Pathogenic organisms and inadequate litter processing Pathogen reduction methods: definitions Litter processing and its impact on pathogen reduction Litter build-up and its relationship to pathogen survival Processing and storage of litter: variability in guidelines Processing recommendations collected from fact sheets and guidelines

Chapter 4: Health Risks: Drugs, residues and resistant bacteria

Drugs and drug residues

The development of antibiotic resistant bacteria

Chapter 5: Health Risks: Arsenic and other metals and metalloids

Chapter 6: The Need for Federal Regulation

#### Definition List and References

# Acknowledgements

Filthy Feed: The Risky and Unregulated Practice of Feeding Poultry Litter to Cattle was made possible by funding from The Panaplil Foundation, NIB Foundation, Helen Brach Foundation, William & Charlotte Parks Foundation, Steve Leuthold Family Foundation, and the generous support of all FACT's individual donors.

FACT would like to thank all those who provided support for this endeavor:

Ben Cohen, J.D. and Julie Ann Sullivan, J.D., M.P.H for their legal expertise

Kyle Spencer for his creativity and collaboration in designing the report cover

Sunita Pillay for her editorial assistance

We would also like to thank FACT's President, **Robert A. Brown**, and the **Board** of **Directors** for their encouragement and guidance in all the work that we do.

# **Executive Summary**

#### Introduction

Food Animal Concerns Trust (FACT) is a Chicago-based nonprofit organization whose mission is to improve the welfare of food producing animals. We seek to broaden opportunities for humane farmers and address public health problems that come from the production of meat, milk and eggs.

FACT believes that healthy animals are essential for maintaining a safe food supply. FACT was at the table in 1996 when Mad Cow Disease in cattle was first linked to neurological disease in people. Since then, FACT has given testimony, participated in stakeholder meetings, submitted comments, and otherwise encouraged the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to enact the strictest controls possible to prevent the spread of the disease. A ban on feeding poultry litter to cattle has long been an important concern for FACT. The FDA failed to include such a ban in its 2008 Final Rule on Substances Prohibited From Use in Animal Food or Feed (hereafter referred to as the Final Feed Rule).

#### Purpose

FACT, shocked by how little is publicly known about the feeding of poultry litter to cattle, undertook an extensive review of the scientific and policy literature surrounding the practice. Poultry litter consists primarily of manure, feathers, spilled feed, and bedding material that accumulate on the floors of the buildings in which turkeys and chickens are raised. In the United States, poultry legally can be fed ruminant meat and bone meal (MBM), rendered cattle material which may contain infectious prions that are responsible for serious neurological diseases. When this poultry litter is fed back to cattle, the cows are at risk of contracting Mad Cow Disease, otherwise known as Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE). Consequently, humans who eat meat from infected cows are at risk for variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD), a degenerative and often fatal neurological disease. Feeding poultry litter to cattle carries other serious health risks as well, including those related to (1) disease-causing bacteria and viruses; (2) drug residues; (3) antibiotic resistant bacteria; and (4) heavy metals and other toxic substances. This report argues that the FDA should reinstate its regulatory authority over poultry litter as feed and subsequently ban the practice.

# Scope of the project

This report contains a scientific and policy review of the use of poultry litter as cattle feed. It lays out a brief history of how the practice emerged as the poultry industry

in the United States expanded, and how the FDA delegated its regulatory authority to the state agricultural agencies. The report considers how the lack of regulation at the state level has placed animal and human health at risk by allowing this practice to continue. Particular aspects of contemporary litter composition and processing are discussed in depth to expose specific health hazards. The report also reviews the current processing guidelines available to producers, which largely contradict one another and provide minimal useful information. Furthermore, the approach used by the FDA to assess the risk associated with litter feeding is critiqued. The report emphasizes the need to strengthen policies that would protect against BSE and the numerous other health risks attributed to the practice.

# **Findings and Conclusions**

The feeding of poultry litter to cattle is a contemporary agricultural practice that carries many animal and human health risks. In 1980, the FDA reversed an earlier ban on the practice and transferred the jurisdiction of litter-feeding regulation to individual state agricultural agencies because of the perceived local nature of the practice. Unlike other practices that have been adequately monitored at the state level, the feeding of poultry litter to cattle has been ignored by most states. It is unclear how much litter is being fed and if it is being processed properly. It appears that most states do not monitor the practice, which means that it would be extremely difficult to trace and rectify the related public health problems.

The threat of BSE to cattle and the associated risk of vCJD to humans are the most compelling reasons why the FDA should reconsider its 1980 decision to allow individual state agricultural agencies to monitor their own litter-feeding practices. However, since then the state agencies have only minimally regulated the practice, if at all. Considering the possibility that infectious prions could be transferred to cattle through consumption of spilled feed or poultry manure, the FDA should ban the practice of feeding poultry litter to cattle altogether. The FDA's Final Feed Rule still allows 10 percent of infected tissues from cattle to be fed to poultry, thus creating a possible route of BSE transmission to cattle.

Beyond the risk of BSE, the practice of feeding poultry litter to cattle carries other potential health risks. Drugs and drug residues, bacteria and viruses, and heavy metals are among some of the lurking public health problems in the litter. Unfortunately, cattle may be at increased risk from harmful metals found in poultry litter used as feed, but no federal or state agencies currently test for their presence. As for the drugs and drug residues found in poultry litter, they contribute to the development of antibiotic resistant bacteria on farms. While increased bacterial resistance in farm animals threatens animal health, more significantly it exacerbates the spread of antibiotic resistant bacteria from the farm into the community through contaminated food, waterways or soil, and farm workers. Antibiotic resistance is a

serious public health problem that increases the total number of infections as well as their severity, often leading to prolonged treatments, higher healthcare costs, and the possibility of patient deaths. Finally, disease-causing bacteria may persist in cattle feed and slowly make their way into the community as processing methods do not effectively eliminate them.

The practice of feeding poultry litter to cattle continues today without adequate surveillance or regulation. The FDA, as a government agency with a strong public health mandate, must protect human health before considering the economic interests of the agricultural industry. Cheap feed does not equal good feed. The evidence is clear: poultry litter as cattle feed carries the undeniable risk of BSE transmission. With so much at stake, the federal government no longer can afford to turn a blind eye to the dangers posed by filthy cattle feed.



### Is this What You Want Your Dinner To Be Eating?

The feeding of poultry litter to cattle is a dangerous agricultural practice that should be banned by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to protect animal and human health. Poultry litter consists primarily of manure, feathers, spilled feed and bedding material that accumulate on the floors of the buildings where chickens and turkeys are raised. It can contain disease-causing bacteria, antibiotics, heavy metals, toxic materials, feed ingredients normally prohibited for cattle such as meat and bone meal from dead cattle, and even foreign objects such as dead rodents, rocks, nails and glass. This material is collected and processed using techniques such as composting or deepstacking. It is then added to cattle feed because of its high protein and mineral content, and due to the higher costs associated with other manure disposal options.

The known dangers associated with this agricultural practice create an unacceptable risk to human and animal health. Documented risks include the spread of Mad Cow Disease,<sup>i</sup> the development of antibiotic resistant bacteria, and the potential for exposure to toxic substances. The risk to human and animal health is further compounded by the widespread absence of surveillance or regulation. In a period marked by increasing public demand for traceability in the food supply, the uncertainty as to the prevalence and regulatory status of litter-feeding seems all the more shocking. Currently, serious health threats could go undetected and unchecked.

Since 1980, the FDA has shirked its responsibility to address the human and animal health concerns related to the use of poultry litter as feed for cattle. In 2008, despite a growing public recognition that food safety is of paramount importance, the FDA failed to include poultry litter among the substances prohibited as cattle feed when strengthening rules to prevent the spread of Mad Cow Disease.<sup>1</sup> As the following review of the available scientific and regulatory literature demonstrates, the FDA has the authority to ban this practice and should promptly do so.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mad Cow Disease is the commonly used name for Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE), a slowly progressive, degenerative, fatal disease affecting the central nervous system of adult cattle. <u>http://www.fda.gov/AnimalVeterinary/GuidanceComplianceEnforcement/ComplianceEnforcement/BovineSpongiformEncephalopathy/default.htm</u>.

#### Growth of the poultry industry

During the last 50 years there has been rapid growth<sup>2</sup> and consolidation<sup>3</sup> within the U.S. poultry industry, accompanied by commensurate growth in the amount of litter produced. It is estimated that each of the 70,000 broiler chicken houses<sup>ii</sup> in the United States generates approximately 180 tons of litter per year,<sup>4</sup> consisting of varying proportions of manure, feathers, spilled feed, and the bedding material on which the birds were raised (which may include wood shavings of various sources, rice hulls, sawdust, paper mill waste, peanut shells, coconut fiber, and other dry, absorbent materials). The composition of this highly heterogeneous product varies with climate, bird population density, feed and bedding material, and other aspects of broiler house management. Most litter is high in nitrogen and phosphorous and has traditionally been used as a fertilizer for crops, particularly forage crops. The rapid growth in poultry production in the mid-to-late 20th century especially in the southern and southeastern states, gave rise to a problem of litter disposal. Eutrophication of coastal and surface waters, due to excessive deposits of phosphorus-rich raw (unprocessed) poultry litter,<sup>5</sup> prompted interest in alternative-disposal strategies, including feeding poultry litter to cattle.

# A brief regulatory history of poultry litter feeding

In a 1977 *Federal Register* notice,<sup>6</sup> the FDA proposed amending the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) to allow poultry litter to be used as feed for animals. Since 1967 the FDCA had disallowed litter use in cattle feed and had classified it as a feed adulterant based on its capacity for microbial contamination.<sup>7</sup> In 1980, following a three-year comment and review period, the FDA issued a final rule by which the jurisdiction of litter-feeding regulation was transferred to individual state agricultural agencies.<sup>8</sup> In this notice of revision, the FDA stated that poultry litter is safe from microbial contamination if properly processed, but did not give substantial recommendations to the states on how effective processing should be accomplished.

Based on the following provision in the notice's introduction, it is evident that the FDA was not assured of the general safety of the practice. The notice reads:

The data available to FDA...do not resolve all the questions of safety that are raised by the possible occurrence of residues of drugs and drug metabolites in recycled waste. Moreover, it has become clear that such

questions might not be answerable in the foreseeable future even if extensive research efforts were devoted to this purpose. Hence, the agency recognizes that it is necessary to weigh associated safety factors such as the levels likely to be fed, the consuming species and production classes of animals, the probability of practical withdrawal periods following feeding, and the overall extent of the practice of recycling animal wastes in this country in order to develop an assessment of the safety impact of such feeding practices (p. 86272; emphasis added).

The FDA officially delegated the authority to regulate poultry litter as a feed ingredient to individual state agricultural agencies due to the "local character of animal waste use and because the States have the capacity to effectively regulate this use."<sup>8</sup> Unfortunately, the FDA took this step without first guaranteeing that the states

# Countries that have banned poultry litter as cattle feed Australia Canada European Commission Member States New Zealand

would conduct a comprehensive safety assessment before allowing litter to be used as feed. There was no requirement that the states explicitly address any of the associated safety factors cited by the FDA. Several recent surveys of state agricultural agencies indicate that most states' policies are either unknown or nonexistent. Enforcement of those policies may be sporadic at best.

A 1996 survey of state agricultural agencies determined that 31 of 32 responding agencies have documented policies regard-

ing the use of animal waste in commercial feed. Of these policies, most were adapted from standards established in 1982 by the Association of American Feed Control Officials (AAFCO).<sup>9</sup> This survey yielded no information as to the surveillance or enforcement associated with these policies. AAFCO's model regulations call for licensing and periodic screenings (for *Salmonella* and *E. coli* bacteria, heavy metals, pesticides, drugs, parasitic larva or ova, and mycotoxins)<sup>10</sup> of animal wastes registered as commercial feedstuffs. These requirements seem spurious given the apparent rarity of its commercial registration.<sup>9,11</sup>

An informal survey conducted in 2007 by Food Animal Concerns Trust, a sciencebased public health and humane farming nonprofit organization, found that 21 of 32 responding state agencies reported that they did not monitor or maintain any data on the amount of poultry litter used as cattle feed. As one respondent said, "We do not have any information of the amount used. We only know that it is done." Two states supplied estimates of the amount used based on limited survey data.<sup>12</sup>

Adding to the problem, poultry litter is also not among the "byproduct feeds" whose

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>ii</sup> This figure was calculated by dividing the number of young chickens slaughtered per year (8,898,486) by the number of birds per house (120,000). The later calculation assumes 20,000 birds per flock and 6 flocks per year in each house as described at <u>http://pubs.caes.uga.edu/caespubs/pubcd/L419.htm</u>. This estimate does not include the number of houses used for breeder flocks as there is not a reliable way to calculate this figure.

prices are monitored in the Feed Grains Database maintained by the Economic Research Service of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA).<sup>13</sup> The private use or non-commercial exchange of poultry litter or other animal wastes as feed is common, according to anecdotal evidence and industry literature. A 2002 survey of approximately 15,800 broiler producers and 500 turkey producers indicated that 34% of litter was sold and 17% was informally traded.<sup>14</sup>

The FDA originally may have thought that delegating the regulation of poultry litter as cattle feed to the state agricultural agencies would minimize the health risks posed

by the practice. Almost thirty years later, the majority of states do not have known policies on the regulation of litter as feed, and poultry litter is rarely registered as commercial feedstuffs despite being used as cattle feed. It is safe to conclude that the individual states have not lived up to their mandate from the FDA. Therefore, the FDA should reinstate its authority immediately to address the health risks associated with poultry litter feeding. While the feeding of litter may primarily occur locally or regionally, it has national im-

#### Estimates of the Amount of Litter Fed to Cattle

Estimates range from the 1% figure offered by the U.S. Poultry and Egg Association (USPEA) in 2002<sup>15</sup> to notably higher assessments of 20-25% and 25% by researchers at the FDA and Virginia Polytechnic Institute, respectively.<sup>16,17</sup> The USPEA's figure almost certainly is an underestimate because it only includes litter fed directly by poultry producers to their own livestock and does not include information on the final use of the bulk of litter (51%), which is sold or traded.

plications. Cattle are often moved long distances across state lines for finishing or slaughter; beef products from these cows can then enter into national or even international commerce. Far from being of local concern only, this practice could affect the health of a much larger, national population and thus should be regulated by a federal agency.

When the FDA estimated the economic costs of a ban on feeding poultry litter as a response to BSE in 2005, the Agency assumed that between 1.1 and 2 million tons of litter would be fed to between 1.3 and 3.2 million cows.<sup>39</sup> The FDA did not state what percentage of the litter produced this would represent. However, if reports that 5.6 million tons of litter are produced annually are accurate,<sup>17</sup> this would mean that the cost estimates calculated by the FDA assumed that between 20% and 36% of litter is fed to cattle.

Regional variance in feeding practices is not well quantified, but is presumably limited by the geographical distribution of poultry production, as litter is considered prohibitively expensive to transport over long distances. A review of the literature and several inquiries to agricultural researchers yielded a wide array of estimates for major poultry and beef-producing states:

**Alabama:** In 2004, Auburn University bioengineers estimated that 5% of the litter generated in Alabama was fed to cattle.<sup>18</sup>

**Arkansas:** Per a 1997 survey published by Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine, "18 percent of chicken farmers use their accumulated chicken litter for cattle feed."<sup>19</sup>

**Florida:** The Florida Department of Agriculture estimated in 2004 that approximately one million tons of poultry litter are produced in Florida each year. If it is assumed that only 35% of this material is suitable for use in animal feed, then 350,000 tons of poultry litter would be available annally as cattle feed or for other uses.<sup>20</sup>

**Kentucky:** In a qualitative survey of food safety perceptions among approximately 570 Kentucky beef producers published in 2001, 2.9% of respon dents reported feeding poultry litter; 51.7% of all producers surveyed considered it a high-risk practice.<sup>21</sup>

**Tennessee:** In a 2005 interview survey of off-farm poultry litter handlers, "twenty-five percent of handlers (i.e. 3 of those surveyed) sold litter as livestock feed." <sup>22</sup> A professor of agriculture at University of Tennessee was unable to estimate prevalence in his state, but stated that "Alabama and Georgia feed much more than Tennessee."<sup>23</sup>

**Virginia:** In 2004, the Virginia Farm Bureau estimated in comments to the FDA that approximately 10% of the poultry litter produced in Virginia, or 58,000 tons per year, is used as a cattle feed supplement.<sup>24</sup>

The variation and uncertainty in these estimates illustrates the absence of any significant monitoring at the state level and suggests that state governments are illequipped to respond to adverse health events associated with litter feeding.

#### Economic conditions and their effect on the use of litter as cattle feed

The uncertainty about current feeding levels is alarming considering the potential health risks associated with the practice. Looking ahead, the practice could become more common as new incentives to feed litter appear, such as the increasing price of other feeds, the value of litter as fertilizer, and the higher costs of other forms of litter disposal. The current regulatory structure is inadequate to monitor its prevalence, meaning that an increase in the practice could go unnoticed and essentially unregulated.

For cattle feeders, litter is considered an inexpensive protein and energy source, especially during the winter and drought periods. For example, a University of Nebraska study estimates that using litter as a feed supplement produces a saving of \$0.04 per cow per day as compared to a feeding regiment that includes a

soybean supplement.<sup>25</sup> Texas A&M University researchers cite its per-ton cost at less than one tenth that of range cubes as a protein supplement.<sup>26</sup> Furthermore, an increase in biofuel production<sup>27</sup> could impact grain prices and fuel prices (which increase the cost of drying grain and forage crops). Under these circumstances, it is possible that the practice of feeding litter would become more common as cattle producers try to offset rising grain costs with alternative feeds. Poultry producers also find that selling litter for use as feed can be economically advantageous – in fact, litter sold for feed can yield prices 30% to 300% higher than litter sold as fertilizer.<sup>22,28</sup> It is not surprising that economic incentives drive the use of poultry litter as cattle feed. However, such dynamics underscore the need for the adequate surveillance and regulation of this practice.



#### A brief history of regulatory protections against the spread of BSE

Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE), known commonly as Mad Cow Disease, is the most serious of the many serious health risks associated with feeding poultry litter to cattle. BSE is an important neurological disease in cattle that can also lead to variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD), a fatal human neurological disease. BSE belongs to a group of diseases referred to as transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSEs), diseases that are believed to be spread through the misfolding and accumulation of infectious proteins, or prions, in nerve cells.<sup>29</sup> Neurological damage is caused by the accumulation of these misfolded proteins in brain tissue. The diseases are considered 'transmissible' because they can be spread from one sick animal or person to another.

BSE primarily spreads between cattle through the consumption of feed containing meat and bone meal (MBM) from infected cattle.<sup>30</sup> Due to the direct link between consumption of contaminated feed and disease development, efforts to control BSE focus on limiting cattle exposure to feed containing ruminant MBM.

In 1986, the first confirmed case of BSE in cattle was identified in Sussex, England. In 1996, research linked BSE to the human disease vCJD, which is thought to be contracted by humans through the consumption of meat from BSE-infected cattle.<sup>31</sup> In response, one year later the FDA prohibited the inclusion of ruminant MBM in cattle feed because of BSE's recognized risk to human health. As poultry are not known to be affected by BSE, the FDA did not prohibit the feeding of MBM to poultry. When the rule was proposed, several commentators recommended that the feeding of poultry litter to cattle be prohibited. They warned FDA of the risk of BSE infectivity due to either spilled feed or infectious prions passing through the avian digestive tract.<sup>32</sup> Spilled feed is food intended to be consumed directly by poultry that instead is dropped on the floor of the poultry house, becoming a component of the litter. It is estimated that the poultry industry consumes 43% of the ruminant MBM produced in the United States.<sup>33</sup> Given that 3% of the total feed in a broiler house is typically spilled,<sup>34</sup> a litter lot may contain up to 3.4 tons<sup>iii</sup> of spilled feed for each flock raised on it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iiii</sup>. This calculation assumes that each of 20,000 birds per flock was fed 11.4 pounds of feed, found at <u>http://www.epa.gov/oecaagct/ag101/poultrynutrition.html</u>.

In response to the concerns raised during the public comment period, the FDA stated in its final rule notice that a prohibition on feeding poultry litter was unnecessary because there were (1) no studies on the infectivity of BSE found in poultry feces; (2) no epidemiological evidence from countries with BSE proving this was a possible route of transmission; and (3) a lack of epidemiological evidence from countries with BSE. Since that time BSE has been detected in the United States and studies have found that feces can contain infectious prions. In addition, the FDA's argument is spurious because litter feeding is prohibited in European countries, places where epidemiological evidence potentially could have been found.<sup>35</sup>

In 2003, BSE was detected in cattle born in Canada, including a cow that was shipped to Washington State and slaughtered there. It is assumed that BSE was originally introduced into North America by cattle imported from the United Kingdom in the 1980s. The disease's presence in North America led to new levels of concern among consumers and producers regarding the safety of beef and other animal-derived foods. U.S. export markets were closed as countries refused shipments of beef because of BSE concerns. The detection of North American BSE showed that import controls had failed to keep BSE from being introduced on this continent, prompting the FDA's Center for Veterinary Medicine to revisit cattle feeding regulations. In January 2004, the FDA announced that it would ban feeding poultry litter because of the BSE risk associated with this practice.<sup>36</sup> Later that year, the FDA began rulemaking and sought public comments on steps to improve the 1997 ruminant to ruminant feed ban. Again, the FDA received comments warning against the use of poultry litter as cattle feed.<sup>37,38</sup>

In 2005, the FDA published a proposed rule that called for a comprehensive ban on BSE-associated specified risk materials (SRMs) in animal feed.<sup>39</sup> Astonishingly, the proposed rule did *not* prohibit the feeding of poultry litter to cows, in stark contrast to the Agency's prior announcement that it would. The FDA justified its decision<sup>iv</sup> to allow poultry litter in cattle feed on the basis of an unpublished calculation by the North American Rendering Industry (NARI).<sup>40</sup> This calculation took into account the risk attributable to prions found in spilled feed, but ignored the potential passage of BSE infectivity through the avian digestive tract. Such shortsightedness on the part of the FDA has endangered public health by allowing a practice that contributes to BSE transmission to continue.

In 2008, the FDA published its Final Feed Rule, effective April 27, 2009<sup>1</sup> and subsequently delayed until October 26, 2009.<sup>41</sup> The final rule prohibits the use of certain high-risk materials from all animal feeds, but permits the indirect feeding of ruminant MBM to cattle in the form of poultry litter. According to an FDA publication: ...scientific data indicate that roughly 90 percent of BSE infectivity is contained in the brain and spinal cord of cattle, and only about 10 percent of BSE infectivity is present in such cattle parts as the distal ileum of the small intestine, the dorsal root and trigeminal ganglia, and the retina of

The FDA acknowledges that the rule, if implemented perfectly, would still allow 10 percent of infected tissues from cattle into the food supply.<sup>43</sup>

In addition to permitting a certain amount of infectivity, there are also serious concerns about the ability of slaughterhouses and rendering plants to effectively implement the rule. Meat from infected cows may not be detected due to limited testing and inspection for BSE. In 2006, the USDA Inspector General issued a highly

#### Meat and Bone Meal (MBM): What is It?

the eye.42

MBM consist of animal tissues and bones that have been cooked and ground up for inclusion in various products, including cattle feed. The consumption of ruminant MBM by cows has been the primary route of transmission for BSE. This practice is banned in the United States. However, ruminant MBM can be fed to chickens and turkeys. critical report of a related USDA program responsible for removing potentially infective tissues from human food.<sup>44</sup> The USDA Inspector General reported significant problems with the program's ability to determine cattle age, a prerequisite for removing high risk materials. The report also found that most plants did not have adequate plans in place to guarantee SRM removal. In February 2008, a California meat packing plant failed to properly follow steps to reduce the risk of BSE, which led to the recall of 143 million pounds of beef. The plant's inability to follow the guidelines went undetected by the USDA for over two years and

resulted in the largest meat recall in U.S. history.<sup>45</sup> Plants that render animals *not* for human consumption have even fewer inspectors, making it more difficult for the FDA to ensure effective removal of risky material from animal feeds. Additionally, the FDA has provided no guidance to small meat processors regarding rule implementation. Meat renderers report difficulty in disposing of risky materials.<sup>46</sup> Due to the inevitable gaps in implementation and the final rule's failure to ban the use of all tissue known to carry BSE infectivity in animal feed, ruminant MBM fed to poultry will continue to be a potential source of BSE infectivity.

#### A flawed approach to assessing the risk associated with litter feeding

It is likely that this poultry litter loophole will result in the feeding of large quantities of recycled ruminant MBM to cattle. In the Final Feed Rule, the FDA determined that the risk of the transmission of BSE to cattle through poultry litter was low based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iv</sup> Justification can be found on page 22725 of the 2008 final feed rule.

on calculations provided by NARI. However, certain highly questionable assumptions were made by NARI that likely led to an underestimation of risk.

The following factors were not adequately addressed in the FDA's conclusion that feeding poultry litter to cattle presents an acceptable risk related to the spread of BSE:

- 1. The ability of prions to resist degradation by both the avian digestive tract and chemical processing methods. NARI assumed that the only source of ruminant protein in litter was from spilled feed.
- 2. The potential for infectious prions to occur in discrete packets in feed in stead of being uniformly distributed. NARI assumed that feed is perfectly mixed down to the microgram level at which infectivity occurs.
- 3. The possibility that soil particles could enhance transmission of BSE via mixing with litter. NARI did not consider the impact of soil on TSE transmissibility.
- 4. The potential for other strains of BSE or TSEs to be spread, amplified, and/or modified by this practice. Information on other BSE strains was unknown at the time of NARI's calculation.

Because these factors are not included in NARI's risk assessment, the results most likely underestimate the threat to human health posed by litter feeding.

#### Prion resistance to degradation

The NARI calculation accepted by the FDA considered spilled feed as the only source of potential infectivity in litter. It ignored the larger risk coming from proteins that pass through the avian digestive tract. No specific studies considering BSE infectivity have been carried out on this possible route of BSE transmission. However, prions are known to resist inactivation by processes such as ultraviolet irradiation, metal ion chelators, acidification, boiling, dry heat and chemicals such as formalin, alcohols, and beta-Propiolactone.<sup>47</sup> Because of their resistance to degradation, prions should not be expected to lose infectivity under the physical conditions of the avian digestive tract.

In an investigation of the potential for scavenger birds to transmit TSEs, the Scientific Steering Committee for the European Commission's Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General expressed doubt that bird digestion could eliminate prion infectivity. IThe Committee concluded that avian feces pose a risk for TSE transmission.<sup>48</sup> Previous research has demonstrated that fecally-shed prions can maintain their infectivity following ingestion by other species. Based on findings in mice fed the feces of scrapie-infected sheep, World Organization for Animal Health representatives stated that:

A more recent study found that the bovine digestive tract did not eliminate prion infectivity even when it degraded the proteins to the point that they were undetectable using standard immunochemical methods.<sup>50</sup> No studies have been carried out on the impact of the avian digestive tract on prion infectivity.

Gut contents and fecal matter may...contain infectivity. It is concluded that digestive contents and fecal material from livestock currently being fed with meat and bone meal potentially contaminated with BSE should-not be used as a feed ingredient for animal feed.<sup>49</sup>

Even if the resistance of prion proteins to degradation is not considered, only 75 to 80 percent of the crude protein in ruminant MBM is normally digested in the avian digestive tract. The remainder of the protein is excreted by the bird, without being digested.<sup>51</sup> Clearly the FDA's assumption that the only potential source of infectivity is from spilled feed is incorrect. NARI's calculation assumed that litter contained only 1% of the protein in feed and consequently only 1% of potential infectivity. This assumption is clearly false given that 20% of ruminant protein in feed is indigestible and that infective prions are highly resistant to degradation. It is likely that at least 20% of infectivity would survive in litter and be transferred to the cattle consuming the litter.

Even if the targeted 90% reduction of infectivity in feed anticipated under the new feed rules is achieved, NARI's calculation will still significantly overestimate the quantity of feed needed to be consumed for infection to occur. Their calculation fails to consider that at least twenty times as much protein and associated infectivity passes through the avian gut compared to the amount that is spilled from feeders. This raises serious doubt over the determination that abnormally large quantities of litter would need to be eaten by a cow to receive an infectious dose.

#### Distribution of infectivity in feed

Complicating our understanding of BSE are issues regarding the quantity of an infectious agent needed to cause the disease and its distribution in feed. If the infectious agent in feed tends to occur in discrete clumps or "packets," more of it could be ingested at one time, thus increasing the likelihood that an amount sufficient to cause disease would be consumed. On the other hand, if the infectious agent is distributed evenly throughout the feed, it is likely that a smaller amount would be consumed at any one point in time by any single animal. NARI's calculation assumes perfect mixing and dilution of any infectivity in the animal proteins both during rendering and within the poultry house during cleanout. In its own calculations

However, there is evidence that infectious material is not mixed perfectly during the rendering of feed as observed by the pattern of infection found in cattle herds. Typically, a low incidence of BSE occurs within a herd, meaning single animals rather than entire herds become infected with the disease. Perfect mixing does not seem to explain the observed pattern of disease transmission. If prion infectivity were evenly distributed in feed, entire herds would become sick rather than individual animals.

The BSE Inquiry conducted in the United Kingdom considered the "packet" theory of MBM distribution as an explanation for this pattern.<sup>52</sup> When the report was completed in 2000, the committee was unable to reach a conclusion on the packet theory for two reasons. First, the necessary packet size needed for infection seemed to be too large given the particle size of rendered product. Second, scientists incorrectly assumed that the infectious dose for BSE was fairly large. Since then, oral infectivity has been shown at the 1 milligram level for brain tissue,<sup>53</sup> one thousand times smaller than the one gram level accepted in 2000.<sup>54</sup> This new knowledge about prions strongly supports the packet theory of MBM distribution.

In conclusion, the FDA's determination that massive quantities of poultry litter would need to be eaten for BSE infection to occur is likely inaccurate. It not only fails to account for the passage of infectivity through the avian gut but also assumes that infectivity is evenly distributed in batches of MBM rendered for feed. It is much more likely that the infectious material is unequally distributed, an alarming phenomenon given the small dose needed to transmit BSE to cattle.

#### The impact of soil particles on prion infectivity

Recent research implicates soil particles as a possible reservoir of TSE infectivity. These findings raise additional concerns about how inorganic matter in feed resulting from contact with the soil during storage and processing, or from feed additives may impact infectivity. For example, Johnson et al. examine the disease penetrance and infectivity of prion isolates in four environments. They conclude that oral transmissibility may be to 680 times higher in prions bound to inorganic microparticles from soil than in unbound prions.<sup>55</sup> Because litter is typically processed and stored outdoors or in outbuildings, contact with soil particles is to be expected. Given

its relative popularity as a drought or winter ration, long-term stockpiling may be expected as well. Moreover, inorganic additives in feed, such as anti-caking agents used in poultry feed production, may also impact transmissibility. In 2002, 42,000 tons of bentonite clay were used in the production of animal feeds in the United States.<sup>56</sup>

As previously described, prions are well known for their high thermal resistance. Therefore, as long as poultry are fed ruminant MBM, prions may be present in litter via spilled feed or poultry manure.<sup>57</sup> At the point when prions come into contact with soil particles, and subsequently increase their transmissibility, no litter processing method in contemporary use can be expected to attain the temperatures required to eliminate them or even reduce their numbers.

#### Potential risk associated with new BSE strains

Recent research has shown that there are different strains of BSE. One of the strains identified in an infected U.S. cow is likely an inheritable strain.<sup>58</sup> The rate at which this inheritable BSE may occur in the U.S. cattle population is currently unknown. It may have been the origin of the worldwide BSE outbreak. Other research has shown that one of the new strains is more likely to infect humans than typical BSE.<sup>59</sup> The existence of different strains of BSE creates uncertainty in evaluating the risks related to livestock feeding. First, the presence of inheritable strains that occur independently of feeding practices creates the potential for a continual reintroduction of BSE into the U.S. feed chain as infected cattle are slaughtered. Second, certain new strains could be more infectious to humans or more transmissible between cattle, causing increased risk of human and cattle illness.

The health implications of new BSE strains should be accounted for in risk assessments and policy decisions. The existence of new strains of BSE creates great uncertainties in determining risks related to litter feeding as it is possible that strains will be identified that are both more infectious to humans and more transmissible between cattle. Litter feeding could amplify these strains. This scenario would pose a much greater threat to public health than risks assessments previously have calculated. If the FDA cannot adequately evaluate the risk presented by this feeding practice – due to the uncertainty surrounding prion diseases – the Agency should reinstate a ban of feeding poultry litter to cattle immediately.

#### Harvard BSE Risk Assessment

In addition to the NARI assessment described above, the risk of feeding poultry litter was also assessed by the Harvard Center for Risk Analysis along with the Tuskegee University Center for Computational Epidemiology. They used mathematical modeling to assess the risk of BSE found in the United States.<sup>60</sup> The assessment was updated in 2005, and again in 2006, to include poultry litter feeding in response to public comments.<sup>61</sup> The base case scenario examining litter use assumes that only 1% of poultry litter is fed back to cattle. The 1% figure was chosen based on the U.S. Poultry & Egg Association's 2002 survey of poultry producers.<sup>62</sup> The 1% figure includes only the amount of litter fed by poultry producers directly to their own cattle and does not include the bulk of litter (51%) that is sold or traded. Because of this, the base case scenario more accurately represents the best possible outcome as it is the actual amount that producers stated that they themselves used. If any of the litter traded or sold is eventually fed to cattle, this figure would be an underestimate. Even given this presumably low-risk scenario, the assessment found that feeding poultry litter to cattle increased human exposure to infectivity by 73%, an unacceptable risk attributable to this practice.<sup>v</sup>

Sensitivity analysis carried out using an assumption that 5% of poultry litter was fed to cattle resulted in a more than doubling (200 to 420) of the number of new cases of cattle infected with BSE. The assessors did not provide results for amounts of litter fed above 5%. As there are no reliable data on the extent of the practice, it is possible that much more than 5% of litter is fed to cattle. In fact, under current law, all litter legally could be fed to cattle.

As described previously, the FDA assumed between 20 and 36 percent of litter would be fed to cows in its calculations to determine the potential costs associated with banning poultry litter as feed.<sup>39</sup> This is much higher than the levels of feeding considered in the Harvard Risk Assessment.

The Harvard model also fails to take into account infectivity at low dosages and does not consider the potential for infectivity to be clumped in packets in feed or the different risk profiles presented by various BSE strains. In light of these additional factors, the risks associated with feeding litter to cattle are likely greater than the Harvard model has predicted.

The United States' focus on banning the direct feeding of ruminant MBM to cattle ignores other risk factors and routes of transmissibility. By allowing cattle to continue to be exposed to ruminant MBM either through spilled feed or poultry manure, the FDA puts cattle and humans at risk for TSE infection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>v</sup>Human exposure was increased from 3800 infective doses to 6600 infective doses.

# Chapter 3 Health Risks: Pathogenic Organisms and Inadequate Litter Processing

Since the 1960s, the scientific community has recognized that litter feeding has the ability to transmit pathogenic organisms. In 1968, Alexander identified numerous potentially pathogenic bacteria in litter intended for animal feed including *Clostridium* spp., *Salmonella enterica*, *Corynebacterium* spp., *Staphylococcus* spp., *Streptococcus* spp. and *Mycobacterium* spp.<sup>63</sup> Considering the composition of poultry litter, it is not surprising that it may contain disease-causing microorganisms. Subsequent research has consistently found poultry litter to contain a complex bacterial mix with many potential pathogens in addition to those identified by Alexander. These bacteria include *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Pasteurella multocida*,<sup>64</sup> *Actinobacillus* spp., *Bacillus* spp.,<sup>65</sup> *Pseudomonas* spp., *Campylobacter* spp., *Yersinia* spp., *Aeromonas hydrophilia*, *Escherichia coli*,<sup>66</sup> *Facklamia* spp., *Bordetella* spp. and *Enterococcus* spp.<sup>17</sup> In addition to containing bacteria, litter could act as a source for the transfer of viruses<sup>65,67</sup> and pathogenic fungi.<sup>64</sup>

# Pathogen Reduction Methods

**Deepstacking** is an anaerobic fermentation process in which litter is piled and covered to spontaneously generate pathogen-killing heat. Both pile height and covering material recommendations vary. Guidelines from Missouri University state that "litter can be stored in this form for up to five years with little loss of quality."<sup>72</sup> According to multiple cattle experts cited by Kwak, deepstacking is the process in most common use due to its simplicity and economic feasibility.<sup>96</sup>

*Ensiling* is a multiple-stage (aerobic and anaerobic) fermentation process in which litter is combined with plant material, moisture, and sometimes a sugar source to induce pathogen destruction via acidification.<sup>112</sup>

*Composting* is an aerobic process which typically generates less heat than deepstacking. Elimination of pathogenicity by this method may therefore be more problematic.

Litter feeding has been directly linked to serious illness in cattle from botulism<sup>68,103,102</sup> as well as a *Salmonella* outbreak in cattle fed improperly composted litter.<sup>69</sup> While no studies have directly linked the feeding of poultry litter to disease in humans, contaminated feed in general has been implicated in outbreaks of human foodborne disease.<sup>70,71</sup>

#### Litter processing and its impact on pathogen reduction

The literature available on litter processing raises more questions than it answers regarding the safety of poultry litter as feed. Litter in poultry houses is often contaminated with potentially pathogenic bacteria. Studies have shown that composting and storage can reduce the risk. Alexander demonstrated that storage of poultry litter for one to two months reduced *Salmonella* to undetectable levels. Many subsequent studies have shown that storage and processing of litter can reduce levels of pathogenic bacteria in litter.<sup>67,73,97</sup>

However, the degree to which processing effectively kills pathogens is confounded by the accuracy of sampling methods used to measure pathogen levels and by the limited number of pathogens examined. Studies that sampled stored litter intended for cattle feed have often failed to detect cultured pathogens,<sup>66,74</sup> but it is unclear if this is because pathogens were not present or because of the sensitivity of methods used for detection.

Laboratory techniques may produce inaccurate results in pathogen-elimination trials. A recent report by Buhr et al. suggests that the sensitivity of the swab test method typically employed in these studies is limited. Newer and experimental techniques detect significantly higher rates of true positive *Salmonella* cultures.<sup>75</sup> The methods and materials used for isolating bacteria can cause significant variation in outcome, as has been demonstrated in experimental assays for *Enterococcus faecalis*<sup>76</sup> and for different species of *Salmonella*.<sup>77,78</sup> Moreover, the reliance on bacterial culture assays by most pathogen-elimination trials may have produced misleading results. This is due to the use of cultural methods with limited sensitivity<sup>79,80</sup> instead of the more sensitive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing.<sup>81</sup>

Additionally, using culture methods can be inaccurate because many of the bacteria most frequently implicated in foodborne human illness – including *Campylobacter* spp.,<sup>82</sup> *Salmonella* spp.,<sup>83</sup> *Listeria*,<sup>84</sup> and some *enterococci*<sup>85</sup> – are known to persist in a viable, non-culturable (VBNC) state when subject to stress. This behavior may be linked to greater virulence and infectivity of the pathogen. Among the factors understood to induce the VBNC state are temperature extremes, lack of water, and acidity. Acetic acid, a common component of chemical poultry litter treatments, has

been shown to induce the VBNC state in bacteria associated with pathogenic as well as commensal food bacteria.  $^{86}$ 

Most of this research has focused on *Salmonella*, and so it does not provide any information on the many other potential pathogens in food. While many studies reported a reduction in *Salmonella*, other studies found a variety of bacteria in samples of poultry litter intended for feed including *Escherichia coli*.<sup>66,79,97</sup> Martin and Jeffrey did not find *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in litter after processing.<sup>74</sup> This is not surprising as this strain of pathogenic *E. coli* is rarely found in poultry. These studies did not sample for other strains of pathogenic *E. coli* which have been found in poultry and are considered potential zoonoses.<sup>87,88</sup> Martin et al. did identify *Staphlococcus xylosus* in poultry litter intended as cattle feed, but failed to recognize it as a potential pathogen.<sup>89</sup> *Staphylococcus xylosus* is a cause of mastitis in cattle<sup>90</sup> and is also a cause of infections in humans.<sup>91</sup> Such findings clearly indicate that pathogens may persist in poultry litter despite efforts to eliminate them through processing.

## Litter build-up and its relationship to pathogen survival

The 1980 *Federal Register* notice effectively lifted the federal restriction on the feeding of litter. It cited a collection of public commentary and an extensive review of the scientific literature. As thorough and appropriate as this review might have been at the time, it could not have foreseen the findings of post-1980 research and the emergence of BSE. It also could not have predicted widespread changes in agricultural practices that have altered the fundamental properties of poultry litter, such as the trend toward litter build-up.

Although litter has always been a non-uniform substance, the recent trend toward "litter build-up" strategies has modified the biological and chemical nature of litter. Litter build-up involves less frequent complete clean-out of the poultry house, as well as more frequent "de-caking" (removal of water-saturated litter) and chemical treatments (paraformaldehyde, phosphoric acid, hydrochloric acid, sulfuric acid, elemental sulfur, sodium bisulfate,<sup>92</sup> and aluminum sulfate) between flocks.<sup>93,94</sup> The trend toward litter build-up is the result of producers' desire to save money on costly cleanout procedures. However, it affects the safety of poultry litter as feed because the reported increase of chemical treatments may diminish the effective-ness of methods used for pathogen removal.

One valuable characteristic of litter is that it is inherently rich in ammonia and thus has a high alkalinity or pH. Historically, this attribute has aided in pathogen reduction during litter processing and storage. Excessive ammonia, however, is also

harmful to the birds' health and can become very concentrated in a confined poultry house environment. It is now common practice to misuse chemical treatments in an effort to control ammonia problems and to reduce costs.

The chemical and physical changes associated with built-up litter have also reduced the alkaline nature of litter and, in doing so, increased the health risk caused by the pathogens found in litter. Several peer-reviewed studies of the microbicidal effect of the deepstacking process<sup>95,96,97</sup> attribute its efficacy in part to the naturally alkaline, ammonia-rich nature of poultry litter, as expressed below:

Some of the principal factors involved in the elimination of pathogenic bacteria from litter during the deep-stacking process include spontaneous heating and ammonia generated by the litter...Ammonia is toxic to microor-ganisms, and the conversion of uric acid in litter to ammonia is believed to have a significant killing effect on pathogens in deepstacked litter. Various aerobic bacteria indigenous to litter that are known to actively decompose organic matter during the deepstacking process can antagonistically suppress the growth of pathogenic microorganisms.<sup>96</sup>

As a result of litter build-up practices, the poultry litter currently available to prospective cattle feeders does not share the physical, chemical, and microbiological characteristics of the ammonia-rich, single-flock litter samples tested in earlier studies. For example, litter which has been used for four to six broiler cycles can be expected to contain higher concentrations of pharmaceutical residues, metals, disease-causing bacteria and other potentially harmful substances than litter from a single flock.

Chemical alteration of poultry litter can be expected to alter the bacterial elimination process, especially when cost-saving concerns – unchecked by regulation – prompt poultry house managers to apply ammonia-reducing chemical treatments in smaller quantities than manufacturers recommend. Poultry scientists at the University of Arkansas acknowledge the prevalence of this practice, warning:

When this practice is used on older litter with high pH levels, lesser amounts of treatment may only be lowering the litter pH to ideal levels for bacterial growth. Another consideration is the possibility of creating litter pathogens somewhat tolerant to litter treatments by exposing the pathogens to sub lethal amounts of treatment.<sup>98</sup>

Therefore, the danger in this development is that producers apply just enough ammonia to reduce odors and make the environment tolerable for the birds, but in the process they create the ideal conditions for pathogen survival. Many other factors complicate the efficacy of deepstacking to eliminate pathogens. The dynamic interaction between heat, moisture, oxygenation, and alkalinity in the microbicidal process is generally understood as important, but has not been precisely quantified. As the authors of one processing trial explain:

Ammonia is naturally generated by indigenous microorganisms in moist chicken manure at appropriate temperature and can cause a significant reduction of non-spore forming pathogens in stacked manure. *However, it is practice in commercial poultry production to let the manure dry in order to reduce the detrimental effect of ammonia on the birds. Under these circumstances the destruction of pathogens becomes less predictable...*The more basic the pH of the litter material, the more heat the pile generated. A 5 deg. C difference was observed between piles with neutralto slightly acidic pH versus those with basicpH readings at any point in time. Based on this data, litter treatments that lower pH may also inhibit the heating process of stacked litter<sup>99</sup> (emphasis added).

In a study presented at the Western Poultry Disease Conference in 2001, a team from the University of California reported great variations in temperatures generated by deepstacking among litter samples under different conditions as well as different parts of a given single sample. They found that:

...minimal 'safe' temperatures, those necessary to kill microbial pathogens, are depth dependent. Therefore regulations stipulating how a stacked poultry litter pile should be monitored for safety would need to reflect this.<sup>100</sup>

The effective processing of poultry litter is complicated by irregular litter composition, changing poultry house management practices, and the poorly understood interrelationship between moisture, heat and other factors. None of these concerns is adequately addressed in the guidelines and fact sheets currently in circulation to poultry litter handlers, as discussed below. Without precise measurement protocols and without regulation, on-farm processing and storage methods may allow the propagation of virulent, antibiotic resistant bacteria that could be transmitted to humans through improperly cooked food. These bacteria are capable of causing serious foodborne illness. Incomplete pathogen elimination may also endanger cattle health, as was demonstrated in fatal botulism outbreaks in cattle fed poultry litter in Canada, Ireland, the United Kingdom, and Brazil.<sup>68,101,102,103,104</sup>

#### Processing and storage of litter: variability in guidelines

In the absence of a standardized regulatory structure, a disparate body of guidelines and fact sheets published by industry groups, universities, and cooperative extension services has served as the source of best management practices for the use oflitter as feed. A considerable number of these documents were developed in the mid-1990s (prior to the emergence of prion diseases in the United States). As such, they do not reflect recent research into litter microbiology nor the recent trends in poultry feeding and litter management (i.e. the prevalence of ammonia reduction treatments).<sup>105,106,107</sup> Most guidelines state explicitly that litter should be processed before feeding, but vary widely in their subsequent recommendations for processing methods. The confusing, unmethodical, and frequently contradictory nature of these guidelines contributes directly to a lack of accountability in protecting animal and human health.

In general, the available guidelines fail to communicate that poultry litter is a heterogeneous product whose quality and composition vary according to bedding material, feed, and flock management practices. At least two fact sheets advise their readers to select only "quality litter," but offer no criteria for measuring quality.<sup>106,107</sup> Private litter processors seeking this information are unlikely to find help in published research studies, many of which employ expensive technologies such as mechanical aeration. In at least one study of deepstacking efficacy, the method by which the litter sample had been decontaminated was proprietary information and thus not disclosed.<sup>108</sup>

This lack of information is problematic because human error can easily compromise the processing methods in most frequent use (i.e. deepstacking and ensiling), as well as those less common methods for which evidence is largely anecdotal (pelleting, dehydration, irradiation, introduction of anaerobic bacteria, and spraying with propionic or acetic acid).<sup>109</sup> Both aerobic and anaerobic digestion and composting are more commonly associated with litter used as fertilizer,<sup>110</sup> but no regulations exist to bar litter processed by these lesser-known methods from being fed to cattle. In the absence of stringent guidelines and vigilant monitorin g, we can not be assured of the quality or safety of the litter product that is being fed to cattle in the United States today.

# Processing recommendations collected from fact sheets and guidelines

#### Temperature recommendations:

Temperatures of 160 degrees Fahrenheit are required to effectively eliminate *Escherichia coli* and some *Salmonella* species.<sup>111</sup> As discussed above, these temperatures would be inadequate to deactivate prions should they be present in litter via feed spillage or excretion. Most litter processing guidelines warn against excessive heat, as the nutritive value of litter is reduced attemperatures above 160 degrees

Fahrenheit, at which point the Maillard reaction renders some proteins indigestible.<sup>72</sup> Warned that excessive heat may produce more ash and cause more nitrogen loss than is considered desirable for nutritive quality,<sup>96</sup> on-farm litter handlers may have an incentive to process their materials at lower temperatures than would eliminate pathogens.

Mississippi State University and the University of Utah both recommend deepstacking to 130 degrees Fahrenheit for pathogen removal and do not stipulate pile size.<sup>112,113</sup> Missouri State University recommends 140 degrees for temperature, 6 to 8 feet of stack height, and is among the few institutions to offer a time recommendation (three weeks).<sup>72</sup> In 1991, Auburn University recommended 142-158 degrees and did not specify stack height.<sup>114</sup> In contrast, a more recent publication by the same university warns against temperatures above 140 degrees, and recommends limiting the litter's exposure to air in order to prevent higher temperatures.<sup>115</sup> This Auburn publication recommends 20 days at 130 degrees for pathogen removal. Clemson University does not offer a minimum recommended temperature for deepstacking, but warns against overheating litter piles by completely covering them.<sup>106</sup> Other agencies' recommendations for deepstacking pile storage structures include open-sided pole barns, three-sided commodity sheds, free-standing clamp silos covered with 6-mil polyethylene and weighted with discarded automobile tires, and bunker or trench silos. This variability demonstrates that there is not a uniform manner of safely processing poultry litter for use as feed. The disagreement on temperatures needed for pathogen elimination as well as the lack of specificity over the amount of time needed to process reveals just how poorly regulated this agricultural practice is.

#### Moisture recommendations:

The available literature on moisture recommendations is contradictory and confusing. Therefore, it is difficult to judge which guidelines are best for producers to use. Most likely, producers use the recommendations of the nearest university extension service. As far as can be ascertained from the literature, moisture level recommendations are important for two reasons. Moisture level impacts the quality of the litter as feed and also plays an important role in moderating the internal temperature of the litter. According to some of the guidelines available to poultry litter handlers, moisture level should be kept between 12% and 25% to ensure that the protein contained does not become denatured and to ensure an edible texture for the cattle.<sup>112</sup>

More importantly, from a health perspective, moisture levels are crucial to maintaining appropriate pathogen-eliminating temperatures. Moisture level plays a role in the level of infectious disease risk and also interferes with heat generation in deepstacking and fermentation activity in ensiling. For example, ensiled litter was implicated in the botulism outbreaks cited above. As the moisture content of a pile increases, the temperature generated in the deepstacking process decreases, posing an obstacle to pathogen elimination. A study undertaken by Louisiana State University concluded that on-farm litter processing was only safe within the narrow range of 31-35% moisture.<sup>93</sup> Cattle scientists at North Carolina State University considered 60-65% an appropriate moisture level for ensiling and 25% for deepstacking.<sup>105</sup> Missouri University recommends 20% moisture in its guidelines for deepstacking.<sup>72</sup> Mississippi State University recommends that, "for ease of processing and feeding, moisture in the broiler litter should be between 12 and 25 percent" when deepstacking litter.<sup>112</sup> As stated above, university extension services – the most obvious source of information for litter handlers – do not agree on the appropriate moisture level for processing poultry litter. Considering the implications both for the quality of feed for animals and for the infectious disease risk inherent in the litter, these conflicting guidelines illustrate the need for federal level regulation.

#### pH recommendations:

At least four guideline documents discuss the ensiling process and offer recommendations for materials and proportions. However, only the guidelines from Missouri State University specify a pH threshold by which to gauge successful fermentation, citing a pH level of 4.7 as sufficient to kill litter pathogens.<sup>72</sup> This may be inadequate given the reported capacity of some *Salmonella Typhimurium* to survive both a 2.6 and 4.0 pH growth medium.<sup>116</sup>

#### Foreign object screening and removal:

The contents and physical consistency of litter will vary with broiler house management and sanitation practices. Litter can contain potentially pathogenic items such as dead birds, dead rodents, and feces from pest animal. Litter also may contain dangerous items such as rocks, wire, nails, glass, and even larger objects such as tools.

North Carolina State University guidelines stated that litter "should be free of hardware, glass, and other foreign material," but offers no guidelines for screening.<sup>117</sup> Mississippi State University recommends screening with magnets for metal object removal.<sup>112</sup> Utah State University recommends "planning ahead with the poultry producer."<sup>113</sup> Other guidelines fail entirely to address the issue of foreign objects in feed, which is an alarming prospect for animal health.

These recommendations for processing poultry litter are variable and often conflicting. The FDA could not have had such an end result in mind when it delegated authority to regulate litter to the state agricultural agencies. The complete lack of uniformity in these guidelines suggests that there is very little oversight of the final product fed to cattle in the United States – a dangerous reality for both cows and humans.



# Chapter 4 Health Risks: Drugs, Residues and the Development of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria

The presence of veterinary drugs and their residues in meat and poultry presents health risks for human consumers. At the individual level, these substances may induce allergic or acute toxic reactions. They also may disrupt gastrointestinal flora as well as contribute to chronic low-level toxicity. Residues of veterinary ionophores may interact adversely with animal<sup>118</sup> and human medications.<sup>119</sup> Cattle can also suffer negative health effects due to the presence of drug residues in their feed.

At the population level, the use of antimicrobial agents in food animals can lead to the development of reservoirs of antibiotic resistant bacteria on farms. Antibiotic resistant bacteria can cause serious infections and health problems in animals.<sup>120</sup> It also exacerbates the spread of antibiotic resistant bacteria from the farm to humans through contaminated food, water, and infected farm workers.<sup>121</sup> Antibiotic resistance is a major public health concern, as resistant infections are harder to treat and increasingly lethal.<sup>122</sup>

# Drugs and drug residues

Drug and drug residues in poultry litter pose a serious risk to human and cattle health. AAFCO's model feed regulation standards distinguish medicated from nonmedicated feedstuffs, and accordingly recommend different levels of oversight. In the states that have adopted these model standards,<sup>vi</sup> poultry litter is not subject to the more stringent regulations imposed upon medicated feeds. Such a decision is misguided given the likely presence of pharmaceutical compounds from spilled poultry feed and within poultry manure itself.

Among the drugs routinely administered via feed to broiler chickens in the United States are the antibiotics bacitracin, tylosin, bambermycin, lincomycin, virginiamycin, and ionophores narasin and salinomycin.<sup>123</sup> In addition to these commonly used antibiotics there are many other veterinary drugs that are used in poultry production either for approved indications or extralabel purposes. There is no publicly available information on the quantity of drugs used in poultry production so it is impossible to accurately characterize the risks this use creates when litter is fed to cattle. It is estimated that, due to their water-soluble nature, 30-90% of veterinary antibiotics are poorly absorbed and excreted whole.<sup>124</sup> Modified antibiotic metabolites, also frequently excreted, are often bioactive and can be transformed into the parent

compound after excretion.<sup>125,126</sup> The FDA regularly maintains maximum residue levels (MRLs) for certain *cattle* drugs in beef tissue, but the risks associated with accumulated *poultry* drugs in beef tissue have not been assessed. Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations, in which animal drug MRLs are codified, maintains no MRLs for lincomycin, narasin, and salinomycin in cattle tissue.<sup>127,128,129</sup>

Independent of whether or not a drug is approved for use in cattle, the presence of antibiotics or antibiotic residues in poultry litter used as feed creates a health risk for cattle. Unexpected drug interactions can cause animal health problems. For example, certain kinds of ionophores can be toxic to cattle. If those ionophores are present in litter fed to cattle, they could combine with the ionophores administered directly to cattle and create an adverse reaction.<sup>130</sup> Ionophore toxicity in poultry litter used as feed has led to illness and death in cattle.<sup>131,132</sup>

The last peer-reviewed and published experimental analysis that specifically focused on veterinary drug residues found in the tissues of beef cattle fed broiler litter was published by Webb and Fontenot in 1975. The study found that litter contained four of the five antibiotics administered to chickens at levels comparable to those found in medicated feeds. It measured tissue concentrations of only one antibiotic, chlortetracycline.<sup>133</sup> The use of antimicrobials in poultry has changed since the mid-1970s when this study was completed. It did not look at the antimicrobials commonly used today such as bambermycin, lincomycin, virginiamycin, or ionophores.

#### The development of antibiotic resistant bacteria

Because of their ability to kill or inhibit the growth of susceptible bacteria, antibiotics are critical tools in human and veterinary medicine. At the same time, bacterial populations respond to the use of antibiotics by developing resistance – meaning that bacteria that survive exposure to antibiotics are the ones that multiply and pass on the ability to withstand antibiotic treatment. The development of resistance to antibiotics used in human medicine is a deepening public health crisis.<sup>134</sup> Overuse in human medicine contributes directly to resistant bacterial infections, but antibiotic use on livestock farms leads to increased resistance in bacteria in farm environments, farm animals, and in food.<sup>135,136,137</sup> Antibiotic resistance in foodborne pathogens is linked to increased numbers of infections<sup>138</sup> and increased severity of illness.<sup>139,140,141</sup> In particular, the large quantities of antibiotics that have been used in poultry production have been shown to negatively affect human health. Research on this topic demonstrates that poultry production is a source of antibiotic resistant bacteria.

The use of antibiotics in poultry has been shown to select for antibiotic resistance that can be transferred to humans.<sup>142</sup> The common use of antibiotics on poultry farms at doses lower than therapeutic levels is particularly problematic. This non-therapeutic use of antibiotics results in greater selection for resistance than the use

of antibiotics at levels needed for disease treatment.<sup>143,144,145,146,146,147</sup> When transferred to humans, these antibiotic resistant bacteria can cause serious illness. For example, in 2005 the FDA withdrew approval for the use of fluoroquinolones in poultry because this use contributed to resistance in the foodborne pathogen *Campylobacter* spp.<sup>148</sup> Antibiotic use in hatcheries has also been linked to serious resistant *Salmonella* infections in humans.<sup>149</sup> In addition to causing resistant infections through the transmission of *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella*, poultry meat is a potential source for many other serious resistant pathogens including extra-intestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli*<sup>150,151,152</sup> methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA),<sup>153</sup> and *Klebsiella*.<sup>154</sup>

Not surprisingly, poultry litter also contains antibiotic resistant bacteria. These bacteria are resistant to antibiotics that have a long history of use in animal agriculture as well as those more recently added to the drug arsenal for poultry production. Anywhere between 50 and 90% of *Enterococcus* isolates found in poultry litter are resistant to commonly used drugs.<sup>155,156,157,158</sup> Similarly high levels of resistance have been detected in *Salmonella*<sup>159</sup> and *Staphylococcus* isolates found in poultry litter and associated farms.<sup>157</sup> As would be expected, the majority of the bacterial isolates identified in poultry litter are resistant to multiple drugs.<sup>66,160</sup> Through the practice of feeding litter to cattle, resistant bacteria may make their way into cattle, farm environments, and to human populations.

In conclusion, the use of veterinary drugs in poultry production has serious health implications for cattle and humans. First, cattle are fed unknown quantities of antimicrobials due to their consumption of drugs contained in poultry litter. The existence of antimicrobials in litter could also lead to residue violations in meat – even if no one is testing for these particular MRLs. Second, the use of antibiotics in poultry and the persistence of secreted antibiotics in litter can lead to the development of antibiotic resistant bacteria. Antibiotic use on farm carries the risk of environmental contamination as resistant bacteria can be transferred between farms through the transportation of litter. Most significantly, antibiotic resistant bacteria cause serious infections in cattle and humans who consume infected beef products.



# Chapter 5 Health Risks: Arsenic and Other Metals and Metalloids

Arsenicals are fed to chickens to grow larger birds more quickly using less feed. Some arsenicals are also approved for "improved pigmentation" and disease prevention. Currently, three arsenic-containing compounds are approved for use as feed additives in broiler chickens, the most common being roxarsone.<sup>161</sup>

Arsenic is classified by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a Class A known human carcinogen. It has been linked to elevated risk of liver, bladder, kidney, and lung cancers when ingested. Arsenic ingestion is also associated with mucous membrane damage, eye irritation, darkening and lesions of the skin, liver inflammation and damage, abnormal heart function, hearing loss, peripheral nervous system degeneration, and disruption of the immune system.<sup>162</sup>

Although an association between human exposure to poultry products and arsenic toxicity has been acknowledged for some time, the role of poultry litter in toxicity was first proven in 2007. It has been found that *Clostridium* spp. bacteria in poultry manure are responsible for the conversion of roxarsone into inorganic arsenic, which is toxic. Roxarsone is 3-nitro-4-Hydroxybenzene Arsonic Acid, an additive fed to 70 percent of the nine billion broiler chickens produced annually in the United States.<sup>163</sup> This dangerous conversion can begin within 10 days of excretion, but continues throughout the post-cleanout life of stored litter. The mechanism for conversion was elaborated recently by Stolz et al., who write:

The organic-rich manure and anaerobic conditions typically associated with composting provide the conditions necessary for the native microbial populations to transform the roxarsone in the litter releasing the more toxic inorganic arsenic.<sup>164</sup>

Researchers estimate that up to 75 percent of the more than two million pounds of roxarsone fed to chickens annually will pass unchanged into their waste.<sup>161</sup> The consequences for cattle of inorganic arsenic conversion in their feedstuffs are unknown. Risk assessments for arsenic toxicity in cattle that have been fed poultry litter have not been conducted, adding to the list of overlooked problems associated with litter feeding. Even more troubling, the USDA does not routinely screen cattle meat for arsenicals as they are not approved for use in cattle.<sup>165</sup> Bioaccumulation of arsenic in cattle is likely, but the lack of surveillance by the USDA means the extent of the problem is not known.

Arsenicals pose a double threat because they enhance the selection of antibiotic resistant traits. The reservoir of bacteria found in poultry litter has been shown to contain large numbers of mobile genetic elements, or 'integrons,' that contribute to the spread and persistence of resistance genes.<sup>166,167</sup> Genetic linkages between antibiotic resistance and heavy metals could also contribute to the persistence of resistance genes in litter from chickens treated with arsenicals.<sup>168</sup> Genes encoded for antibiotic resistance are often grouped on integrons that also contain heavy metal genes. Bacteria with these integrons can survive exposure to any of the antibiotics or heavy metals to which they are resistant. Therefore, feeding heavy metals such as arsenicals to chickens also contributes to antibiotic resistance. As previously discussed, antibiotic resistant bacteria threaten animal and human health.

Other research has confirmed that broiler litter contains metals and metalloids. In addition to arsenic, Kpomblekou et al. found wide variations in the concentrations of other trace and nontrace metals in broiler litter from different facilities in Alabama. They attributed the variation to differences in broiler diet and house maintenance and sanitation practices.<sup>169</sup> Bolan et al. report potentially biotoxic levels of arsenic, copper, and zinc in poultry litter produced in South Carolina.<sup>170</sup> Cattle may be at increased risk from harmful metals and metalloids found in poultry litter used as feed.<sup>vii</sup> Risk assessments concerning arsenic and other metals present in poultry litter used as serious oversight by the FDA.

There is mounting evidence to suggest that the practice of poultry litter feeding has broad implications for human and animal health, beyond the threat posed by BSE. The toxic and disease-causing agents in litter tend to concentrate because of the recent changes in litter management. As discussed previously, before litter is fed to cattle, it is processed to reduce pathogen load and other harmful materials. However, the hodge-podge recommendations for processing litter are at best unclear and at worst ineffective at removing substances that could directly cause health problems for cattle – and ultimately humans who consume these animals. Moreover, because of the ubiquitous nature of antibiotic drug use in animal production, farms serve as major reservoirs of antibiotic resistant bacteria. When poultry litter is not properly processed to eliminate pathogens, humans are more likely to contract antibiotic resistant infections. Because litter processing methods are unreliable, there is no guarantee that human health is protected from these dangerous pathogens.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>vii</sup> Copper toxicity can cause liver failure in cattle <u>http://www.thedairysite.com/diseaseinfo/208/copper-poisoning-in-cattle</u> and zinc toxicity can lead to decreased appetite in steers <u>http://jas.fass.org/cgi/con-tent/abstract/25/2/419</u>.



# Chapter 6 The Need for Federal Regulation

The feeding of poultry litter to cattle is an agricultural practice that endangers animal and human health. In 1980, the FDA reversed its previous ban on the practice and transferred the jurisdiction of litter-feeding regulation to individual state agricultural agencies. Unlike other practices that can be adequately monitored at the state level, the feeding of poultry litter to cattle has been ignored by most states. It is unclear how much is being fed and if it is being properly processed. It seems that most states do not monitor the practice, which means that it would be extremely difficult to trace and rectify related public health threats.

The single most compelling reason why the FDA should reconsider its 1980 decision is the threat to cattle and human health from TSEs. Since 1980, the state agricultural agencies have shown little interest or expertise in regulating the practice. Considering the possibility that infectious BSE prions could be transferred to cattle through spilled feed or poultry manure, the FDA should ban the practice of feeding poultry litter to cattle altogether. The FDA's 2008 Final Feed Rule does not eliminate 100 percent of BSE infectivity from MBM; therefore, the feeding of this material to poultry presents a serious risk when their feces are fed back to cattle. The emphasis on banning the *direct* feeding of ruminant MBM to cattle ignores the other risk factors and routes of transmissibility – to the detriment of animal and human health.

Beyond the risk of BSE, the practice of feeding litter carries other potential health risks. Arsenic, drugs and drug residues, and pathogens are among some of the lurking public health problems in the litter. Unfortunately, cattle may be at increased risk from harmful metals and metalloids found in poultry litter used as feed, but no federal or state agencies currently test for their presence. As for the presence of drugs and drug residues in poultry litter, they contribute to the development of antibiotic resistant bacteria on farms. Not only does increasing resistance threaten animal health, but it also exacerbates the spread of antibiotic resistant bacteria from the farm into the community through exposure to contaminated food, waterways, soil, and farm workers. Antibiotic resistance is a serious public health problem that increases the number of infections as well as their severity, often leading to prolonged treatments, higher healthcare costs, and the possibility of patient deaths.

One of the most important reasons why poultry litter is processed is to eliminate pathogens from the product. As the survey of extension services in the United States has shown, there is little uniformity in the recommendations given to those processing poultry litter. The confusing, unmethodical, and frequently contradictory nature of these guidelines demonstrates the need for a federal regulatory framework to deal with poultry litter as cattle feed. Even with federal oversight and regulation of the practice, feeding poultry litter to cattle would still carry the risk of BSE transmission to cattle and variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease transmission to humans.

The practice of feeding poultry litter to cattle continues today without adequate surveillance or regulation. The FDA, as a government agency with a strong public health mandate, must protect human health before considering the economic interests of the agricultural industry. Cheap feed does not equal good feed. The evidence is clear: poultry litter as cattle feed carries the undeniable risk of BSE transmission. With so much at stake, the federal government no longer can afford to blatantly ignore the dangers posed by filthy cattle feed.

# Definitions

**Antibiotic/antimicrobial:** A substance that kills or inhibits the growth of microbes such as bacteria, fungi, or viruses. In modern usage, an antibiotic is a chemotherapeutic agent with activity against microorganisms such as bacteria, fungi or protozoa.

Association of American Feed Control Officials (AAFCO): An organization that provides a mechanism for developing and implementing uniform and equitable laws, regulations, standards and enforcement policies for regulating the manufacture, distribution and sale of animal feeds; resulting in safe, effective, and useful feeds.

**Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE):** Also referred to as Mad Cow Disease, it is a slowly progressive, degenerative, fatal disease affecting the central nervous system of adult cattle.

**Commensal:** A form of symbiosis in which one organism derives a benefit while the other is unaffected (often refers to bacteria present in the digestive tract).

**Eutrophication:** An increase in compounds containing nitrogen or phosphorus in an aquatic or terrestrial ecosystem. It is often used to describe the excessive plant growth and decay attributable to the increase in these nutrients. It can lead to a lack of oxygen and severe reductions in water quality, fish, and other animal populations.

**Extralabel use:** The use of a drug product in a manner that is not consistent with what is indicated on the label, package insert, or product monograph of any drug product.

**Isolates:** To separate a pure strain of bacteria etc. from a mixed culture. The product, also called an isolate, is the strain of bacteria.

**Meat and bone meal (MBM):** A product of the rendering industry. It is typically about 50% protein, 35% ash, 8-12% fat, and 4-7% moisture. It is primarily used in the formulation of animal feed to improve the amino acid profile of the feed. Implicated in the spread of BSE.

Microbicidal: Harmful to microorganisms.

**MRLs:** Maximum Residue Levels, set by regulatory agencies to protect consumers against unacceptable levels of residues in food.

**Mycotoxin:** Any substance produced by a mold or fungus that is injurious to vertebrates upon ingestion, inhalation or skin contact.

**Pathogen:** An infectious agent that causes disease or illness to its host. Could be viral, bacterial, or fungal.

**Polymerase chain reaction (PCR):** A technique widely used in molecular biology for the detection and diagnosis of infectious diseases.

**Penetrance:** A term used in genetics describing the proportion of individual carying a particular variation of a gene (an allele or genotype) that also express a particular trait (the phenotype). More specifically, the likelihood a given gene will result in disease.

**Prion:** An infectious agent that, according to current scientific consensus, is comprised entirely of a propagated, misfolded protein. Implicated in the spread of TSEs, including Mad Cow Disease.

**Rendering industry:** Rendering is a process that converts waste animal tissue into stable, value-added materials. Rendering can refer to any processing of animal by-products into more useful materials, or more narrowly to the rendering of whole animal fatty tissue into purified fats like lard or tallow. Rendering can be carried out on an industrial, farm, or kitchen scale. The industry is represented by the National Renderers Association (NRA).

**Risk assessment:** The determination of quantitative or qualitative value of risk related to a concrete situation and a recognized threat (also called hazard).

**Ruminant:** A mammal that digests plant-based food by initially softening it within the animal's first stomach, known as the rumen, then regurgitating the semi-digested mass, now known as cud, and chewing it again. Ruminating mammals include cattle, goats, sheep, giraffes, American Bison, and others.

**Specified Risk Material (SRMs):** The general term designated for tissues of ruminant animals that transmit BSE and other TSE prions. These can include brains, eyes, spinal cord, and other organs.

**Spilled feed:** Food intended to be consumed directly by poultry but instead is dropped on the floor of the broiler house, becoming a component of the poultry litter.

Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathies (TSEs): Diseases that are believed

to be spread through the misfolding and accumulation of infectious proteins, or prions, in nerve cells.

**U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA):** An agency of the United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) responsible for protecting the public health by assuring the safety, efficacy, and security of human and veterinary drugs, biological products, medical devices, our nation's food supply, cosmetics, and products that emit radiation.

**U.S. Poultry & Egg Association (USPEA):** Represents producers and processors of broilers, turkeys, eggs and breeding stock, as well as allied companies.

Variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD): A fatal human neurological disease.

Viable, non-culturable (VBNC) state: Bacteria in the VBNC state fail to grow on the routine bacteriological media on which they would normally grow and develop into colonies, but are alive and capable of renewed metabolic activity. Cells in the VBNC state typically demonstrate very low levels of metabolic activity, but on resuscitation are again culturable.

**Zoonosis:** Any infectious disease that is able to be transmitted from other animals, both wild and domestic, to humans or from humans to animals.

# References

1. U.S. Federal Register, Vol. 73, No. 81 / Friday, April 25, 2008, pp. 22720-22758. Substances Prohibited From Use in Animal Food or Feed, Final Rule. http://edocket.access.gpo. gov/2008/pdf/08-1180.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

2. Watts, George (2007). Chicken Industry Updates, Watt PoultryUSA, December 1, 2007. http://www.wattpoultry.com/PoultryUSA/Article.aspx?id=19736 (accessed 08.11.09)

3. Goodwin, H.L. (2005). Location of Production and Consolidation in the Processing Industry: The Case of Poultry. Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics. August 1, 2005.

4. Lacy, M.P. (2002). Management of Large Broiler Farms, The University of Georgia College of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Cooperative Extension Service. http:// pubs.caes.uga.edu/caespubs/pubcd/L419.htm (accessed 08.11.09).

5. Boesch D.F and R.B Brinsfield (2000). Coastal Eutrophication and Agriculture: Contributions and Solutions. Biological Resource Management: Connecting Science and Policy, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris.

6. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (1977). Recycled Animal Waste, Request for Data, Information, and Views. 42 FR 64662-64675, December, 27 1977.

7. U.S. FDA Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Section 500.40. Use of poultry litter as animal feed. (revoked)

8. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (1980). Recycled Animal Waste, Final Rule. 45 FR 86272-86276, December, 30 1980.

9. Fontenot, Joseph P. (1996). Feeding poultry wastes to cattle. Report submitted to Environment Canada by Virginia Polytechnic Institute, Department of Animal and Poultry Sciences, September 18, 1996.

10. Association of American Feed Control Officials (2007). Model Regulations for Processed Animal Waste Products as Animal Feed Ingredients. In 2007 Official Publication, Association of American Feed Control Officials Incorporated.

11. Watkins, Susan E. Personal communication, July 26, 2007.

12. Staff at Food Animal Concerns Trust (FACT) contacted AAFCO representatives from each of the 50 states in June and July 2007 to request data or estimates on the quantity of poultry litter used annually in feed for cattle, or recommendations where such data can be found. FACT received feedback via email, phone and letter from 32 states.

13. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service Feed Grains Database:<br/>http://www.ers.usda.gov/Data/feedgrains/StandardReports/YBtable16.htm(accessed<br/>08.11.09)

14. Starky, John. "CAFO Revisions: Regulation Without Purpose?" WATT Poultry USA, June 2002.

15. Casey Ritz, PhD., personal communication 7/16/2007: "That estimate came from conversation with the U.S. Poultry & Egg Association and based on their 2002 survey of poultry growers and litter usage practices."

16. Fontenot, J.P. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University (2004). Comments to FDA in response to Docket no. 2004N-0264, August 13, 2004.

17. Lu, Jingrang et al. (2003). Evaluation of Broiler Litter with Reference to the Microbial Composition as Assessed by Using 16S rRNA and Functional Gene Markers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69: 901-908.

18. Alabama Cooperative Extension Service news release (2004). FDA Ban on Poultry Litter Feed Challenging but Not Catastrophic, Expert Says. http://www.aces.edu/dept/extcomm/ newspaper/jan28b04.html

19. Haapapuro, E. (2007). Review - Animal Waste Used as Livestock Feed: Dangers to Human Health. Preventive Medicine 26: 559-602.

20. Dubberly, Dale, Florida Department of Agricultural and Consumer Services (2003). Comments on FDA CVM Docket 2004N-0264 - Substances Prohibited from Use in Animal Food or Feed, Comment Number EC-231.

21. Burdine, Kenneth and Matthew Ernst (2001). Survey of Kentucky Beef Producer Perspectives on Food Safety. Staff Paper 421, University of Kentucky College of Agriculture, Division of Agricultural Economics, November 2001.

22. Park et al (2005). The Role of Poultry Litter Handlers in Tennessee's Off-Farm Litter Market. Journal of Applied Poultry Research 14: 246-253.

23. Rawls, Emmitt. Personal communication 7/2007.

24. Hiatt, Bruce. Virginia Farm Bureau Association (2003), Comments to FDA in response to Docket: 02N-0273 - Substances Prohibited From Use in Animal Food or Feed; Animal Proteins Prohibited in Ruminant Feed. http://www.fda.gov/OHRMS/DOCKETS/dailys/03/ Feb03/020603/8004e168.html (accessed 08.11.09)

25. Jordan, D.J. et al (2002). Dried poultry waste for cows grazing low-quality winter forage. J. Anim. Sci. 2002. 80:818–824

26. Burns, Robert (2004). BSE Sprus Ban on Feeding Broiler Litter to Cattle. AgNews, Texas A&M University Agriculture Program, Feb., 13, 2004: http://agnewsarchive.tamu.edu/dailynews/stories/ANSC/Feb2304a.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

27. Collins, K. (2008). The Role of Biofuels and Other Factors in Increasing Farm and Food Prices. June 19, 2008. http://www.foodbeforefuel.org/files/Role%20of%20Biofuels%20 6-19-08.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

28. Stephenson et al. (1990) A survey of broiler litter composition and potential value as a nutrient resource. Biological Wastes 34:1.

29. Weissman C. et al. (2002). Transmission of prions. PNAS 99 suppl. 4.

30. Ducrot, (2008). Review on the epidemiology and dynamics of BSE epidemics. Veterinary Research 39:15.

31. Takemura, (2004). An overview of transmissible spongiform encephalopathies. Animal Health Research Reviews 5 (2):103-124. http://journals.cambridge.org/action/displayAbstrac t?fromPage=online&aid=775356&fulltextType=RA&fileId=S1466252304000088 (accessed 08.11.09)

32. U.S. FDA Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Section 589. Substances Prohibited From Use in Animal Food or Feed. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/SCRIPTs/cdrh/cfdocs/cf-cfr/CFRSearch.cfm?CFRPart=589&showFR=1

33. Sparks Companies Inc. 2001. The Rendering Industry: Economic Impact of Future Feeding Regulations.

34. Maguire, R. O. et al. (2006). Impact of Diet, Moisture, Location, and Storage on Soluble Phosphorus in Broiler Breeder Manure. Journal of Environmental Quality 35:858-865

35. 91/516/EEC: Commission Decision of 9 September 1991 establishing a list of ingredients whose use is prohibited in compound feedingstuffs available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga\_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod!CELEXnumdoc&numdoc=391D0516&l g=en

36. U.S. HHS News Release (2004). Expanded "Mad Cow" Safeguards Announced To Strengthen Existing Firewalls Against BSE Transmission. http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2004pres/20040126.html (accessed 08.11.09)

37. Hansen, M (2005). Consumers Union's comments on FDA Docket No. 2002N-0273: Substances prohibited from use in animal food and feed. http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/ dockets/02n0273/02n-0273-EC248-Attach-1.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

38. Detwiler, L et al. (2004). Comments on proposed rule (FDA Docket No. 02N-0273).

39. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2005). Substances Prohibited from Use in Animal Food or Feed. 21 CFR Part 589, Docket No. 2002N-0273, pages 58569-58601. http://www.fda.gov/OHRMS/DOCKETS/98fr/05-20196.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

40. Cook, T., North American Rendering Industry (2004). Comments on FDA CVM Docket 02N-0273, Substances Prohibited from Use in Animal Food or Feed, Comment Number EC-29. http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/dailys/03/Feb03/020603/8004e16b.html (accessed 08.11.09)

41. CVM Update: FDA Announces Proposed Delay of BSE Final Rule Implementation (4/6/2009). http://www.fda.gov/AnimalVeterinary/NewsEvents/CVMUpdates/ucm133462. htm (accessed 08.11.09)

42. Osborne, W.D (2008). FDA's BSE Final Rule Published; New Requirements Imposed on Renderers. FDA Veterinarian Newsletter, Vol. XXIII, No. I. http://www.fda.gov/AnimalVeterinary/NewsEvents/FDAVeterinarianNewsletter/ucm083969.htm

43. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2008). Substances Prohibited From Use in Animal Food or Feed; Final Rule. http://www.fda.gov/OHRMS/DOCKETS/98fr/08-1180.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

44. U.S. Department of Agriculture (2006). Audit Report, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy (BSE) Surveillance Program – Phase II and Food Safety and Inspection Service Controls Over BSE Sampling, Specified Risk Materials, and Advanced Meat Recovery Products - Phase III. http://www.usda.gov/oig/ webdocs/50601-10-KC.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

45. U.S. Department of Agriculture (2008). CALIFORNIA FIRM RECALLS BEEF PROD-UCTS DERIVED FROM NON-AMBULATORY CATTLE WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF PROPER INSPECTION. http://www.fsis.usda.gov/pdf/recall\_005-2008\_Release.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

46. Murphy, J. (2009). Renderers say industry not prepared for FDA feed ban rule. Food Chemical News (02.02.2009).

47. Office of Health and Safety, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1999). Biosafety in Microbiological and Biomedical Laboratories, 4th Edition. Section VII-D: Prions. http://www.cdc.gov/OD/ohs/biosfty/bmbl4/bmbl4s7d.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

48. Scientific Steering Committee European Commission Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General (2002). Necrophagous Birds as Transmitters of TSE/BSE, page 4. http://ec.europa.eu/food/fs/sc/ssc/out295\_en.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

49. Joint WHO/FAO/OIE/ Technical Consultation on BSE: public health, animal health and trade. Paris, 10-14 June 2001. http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/bse/WHO\_CDS\_CSR\_APH\_2001\_8\_EN/en/ (accessed 08.11.09)

50. Scherbel, C et al. Infectivity of scrapie prion protein (PrPSc) following in vitro digestion with bovine gastrointestinal microbiota. Zoonoses Public Health. 2007;54(5):185-90

Filthy Feed - The Risky and Unregulated Practice of Feeding Poultry Litter to Cattle

(abstract at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17542960, accessed 08.11.09)

51. Leeson and Summers, (2001). Nutrition of the Chicken. University Books, Guelph

52. BIR, (2000). The BSE Inquiry Report, vol. 2, Science, A committee report to MAFF, UK. BSE Inquiry http://www.bseinquiry.gov.uk (accessed 08.11.09)

53. Wells, (2007). Bovine spongiform encephalopathy: the effect of oral exposure dose on attack rate and incubation period in cattle. Journal of General Virology 88:1363–1373.

54. Woodgate, (2000). The BSE Inquiry, Statement No. 39C. http://www.bseinquiry.gov.uk/files/ws/s039c.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

55. Johnson, Christopher et al (2007). Oral transmissibility of prion disease is enhanced by binding to soil particles. PLoS Pathogens 3: 93.

56. Kogel, J.E. et al (Eds) Industrial Minerals & Rocks: Commodities, Markets, and Uses. Society for Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, 2006, pp1584, ISBN 9780873352338.

57. Joint WHO/FAO/OIE/ Technical Consultation on BSE: public health, animal health and trade. Paris, 10-14 June 2001. http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/bse/WHO\_CDS\_CSR\_APH\_2001\_8\_EN/en/

58. Nicholson, E.M., Brunelle, B.W., Richt, J.A., Kehrli, Jr. M.E., Greenlee, J.J. (2008). Identification of a Heritable Polymorphisms in Bovine PRNP Associated with Genetic transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy: Evidence of Heritable BSE. PLoS One 3(8):e2912.

59. Kong, Q. et al. (2008). Evaluation of the human transmission risk of an atypical bovine spongiform encephalopathy prion strain. J Virol 82(7):3697-701.

60. HCRA, (2001). Evaluation of the Potential for Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy in the United States. Available at: http://www.aphis.usda.gov/newsroom/hot\_issues/bse/back-ground/documents/mainreporttext.pdf

61. HCRA, (2006). Harvard Risk Assessment of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy Update Phase IA Supplemental Simulation Results. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/PDF/BSE\_Risk\_Assess\_Report\_2006.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

62. Casey Ritz, PhD., personal communication 7/16/2007: "That estimate came from conversation with the U.S. Poultry & Egg Association and based on their 2002 survey of poultry growers and litter usage practices."

63. D. C. Alexander, J. A. J. Carriere and K. A. McKayy (1968). Bacteriological studies of poultry litter fed to livestock. The Canadian Veterinary Journal 9(6):127-131.

64. Bhattacharya, A.N., Taylor, J.C. (1975) Recycling animal waste as a feedstuff: a review. J. Animal Sci. 41 (5), 1438–1457.

65. McCaskey and Anthony (1979). Human and Animal Health Aspects of Feeding Livestock Excreta. J Anim Sci 1979. 48:163-177. http://jas.fass.org/cgi/reprint/48/1/163.pdf (ac-

cessed 08.11.09)

66. Kelley, T.R. et al. (1995). Bacterial Pathogens and Indicators in Poultry Litter during Re-Utilization. APPL POULT RES 1995. 4:366-373 http://japr.fass.org/cgi/content/ab-stract/4/4/366

67. Kelley, T.R et al. (1994). Fate of Selected Bacterial Pathogens and Indicators in Fractionated Poultry Litter During Storage J APPL POULT RES 1994 3: 279-288 http://japr.fass.org/cgi/content/abstract/3/3/279 (accessed 08.11.09)

68. Cobb, S. P. et al. (2002). Suspected botulism in dairy cows and its implications for the safety of human food. Veterinary Record 150: 5-8.

69. Pugh, D. G., et al (1994). Feeding broiler litter to beef cattle. Vet. Med. 89:661–664. Reported in: Jeffrey, J.S. et al. (1998) Research notes: Prevalence of selected microbial pathogens in processed poultry waste used as dairy cattle feed. Poult Sci 77: 808-811. http:// poultsci.highwire.org/cgi/content/abstract/77/6/808 (accessed 08.11.09)

70. Bucher O, Holley RA, Ahmed R, Tabor H, Nadon C, Ng LK, D'Aoust J.Y. (2007). Occurrence and characterization of Salmonella from chicken nuggets, strips, and pelleted broiler feed. J Food Prot. 70(10):2251-8.

71. Crump, J.A et al (2002). Bacterial Contamination of Animal Feed and Its Relationship to Human Foodborne Illness. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2002 35:7, 859-865

72. Daniel, Jay, and K.C. Olson (2005). Feeding Poultry Litter to Beef Cattle. University of Missouri Extension Publication G277. http://extension.missouri.edu/xplor/agguides/ansci/g02077.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

73. Chaudhry S.M. et al. (1996) Nutritive value of deep stacked and ensiled broiler litter for sheep. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 57(3): 165-173.

74. Jeffrey, J., et al (1998). Prevalence of selected microbial pathogens in processed poultry waste used as dairy cattle feed. Poultry Science 77:808-811.

75. Buhr. J et al. (2007). Comparison of Four Sampling Methods for the Detection of Salmonella in Broiler Litter. Poultry Science 86: 21-25.

76. Kuntz, R. L. et al. (2004). Presence of Enterococcus faecalis in Broiler Litter and Wild Bird Feces for Bacterial Source Tracking. Water Research 38: 3551-57.

77. Reád, S.C. et al (1994). A Comparison of Two Methods for Isolation of Salmonella from Poultry Litter Samples. Poultry Science 73: 1617-1621.

78. Voogt, N. et al. (2001). Comparison of Selective Enrichment Media for the Detection of Salmonella in Poultry Faeces. Letters in Applied Microbiology 32: 89-92.

79. Jeffrey et al. (2001). Inactivation of Bacteria in Stacked Poultry Litter. Prepared for the

50th Western Poultry Disease Convention.

80. Kwak, W., and J. W. Huh (2004). Feed hygiene and meat safety of cattle fed processed rice hulls-bedded broiler litter. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences. 17: 1509-17.

81. Myint, M.S. (2006). The Effect of Pre-Enrichment Protocol on the Sensitivity and Specificity of PCR for detection of naturally contaminated Salmonella in raw poultry compared to conventional culture. Food Microbiology 23:599-604.

82. Cappelier, J. M. (1999).Recovery of viable but non-culturable Campylobacter jejuni cells in two animal models. Food Microbiology 16: 375-383.

83. Whyte, P. et al. (2002). The prevalence and PCR detection of Salmonella contamination in raw poultry. Veterinary Microbiology 89: 53-60.

84. Besnard ,V., et al. (2000). Evidence of Viable But Non-Culturable state in Listeria monocytogenes by direct viable count and CTC-DAPI double staining Food Microbiology 17: 697-704.

85. G. Duffy (2003). Verocytoxigenic Escherichia coli in animal faeces, manures and slurries. Journal of Applied Microbiology 94 (s1), 94–103

86. Chaveerach, P et al (2003). Survival and Resuscitation of Ten Strains of Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli under Acid Conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol. 69(1): 711–714. http://aem.asm.org/cgi/reprint/69/1/711 (accessed 08.11.09)

87. Johnson TJ, et al. (2008). Comparison of extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli strains from human and avian sources reveals a mixed subset representing potential zoonotic pathogens. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2008 Nov;74(22):7043-50.

88. Bettelheim KA. (2007) The non-O157 shiga-toxigenic (verocytotoxigenic) Escherichia coli; under-rated pathogens. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2007;33(1):67-87.

89. Martin, S. A., et al. (1998) Microbiological Survey of Georgia Poultry Litter. J APPL POULT RES 7: 90-98.

90. Waage, S., et al (1999). Bacteria Associated with Clinical Mastitis in Dairy Heifers. J. Dairy Sci. 82: 712-719

91. Dordet-Frisoni E, et al. (2007). Genomic diversity in Staphylococcus xylosus. Appl Environ Microbiol. 73(22):7199-209.

92. Blake, J, and J. B. Hess. (2001). Sodium bisulfate as a litter treatment, ANR-1208. Alabama Cooperative Extension System. http://www.aces.edu/pubs/docs/A/ANR-1208/ (accessed 08.11.09)

93. Lavergne, Theresia et al. (2006). In-house Pasteurization of Broiler Litter. Louisiana State University Ag Center Publication 2955. http://www.lsuagcenter.com/NR/rdonlyres/696449C7-CA3F-4A92-9ED4-0C67587DCC6A/29454/pub2955InhousePastuer-

40

41

ization.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

94. Lawrence, John. Personal communication, 15 July 2007.

95. Rankins, D (2000). Feeding Broiler Litter to Beef Cattle. Alabama Cooperative Extension Service Document ANR-557.

96. Kwak et al (2005). Effect of processing time on enteric bacteria survival and on temperature and chemical composition of broiler litter processed by two methods. Bioresource Technology. 59: 1529-1536.

97. Bush , D. et al. (2007). Effect of stacking method on Salmonella elimination from recycled poultry bedding. Bioresource Technology 98: 571-78

98. Payne, J.B. and S.E. Watkins (2005). Evaluation of Litter Treatments on Salmonella Recovery in Poultry Litter. Avian Advice 7: 10-11

99. Himathongkam, S. and Riemanna, H. (2000). Destruction of Salmonella typhimurium, Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Listeria monocytogenes in chicken manure by drying and/or gassing with ammonia. FEMS Microbiology Letters 171: 179-182.

100. Jeffrey et al. (2001). Inactivation of Bacteria in Stacked Poultry Litter. Prepared for the 50th Western Poultry Disease Convention.

101. Jean. D. et al. (1995). Clostridium botulinum type C intoxication in feedlot steers being fed ensiled poultry litter. Canadian Veterinary Journal 36: 626-628.

102. Ortolani, E.L. (1997). Botulism outbreak associated with poultry litter consumption in three Brazilian cattle herds. Veterinary and Human Toxicology 39: 89-92.

103. Neill, S.D. (1989). Type C botulism in cattle being fed ensiled poultry litter. Veterinary Record 124: 558-560.

104. McLoughlin, M. et al (1988). A major outbreak of botulism in cattle being fed ensiled poultry litter. Veterinary Record 122: 579-581. "Eighty of a group of 150 housed beef cattle showed classical signs of botulism after eating a batch of ensiled poultry litter...This outbreak of bovine botulism was the most serious to have been recorded in Europe and was the first associated with feeding ensiled poultry litter." (abstract)

105. Crickenbarger, R. and L. Goode (1996). Guidelines for feeding broiler litter to beef cattle. North Carolina Cooperative Extension Service Publication AG-61.

106. Cross, D.L. (1995). Feeding Poultry Litter to Beef Cattle. Clemson Extension Publication LL52.

107. Evers, L.W. et al. (1996). Feeding Broiler Litter to Beef Cattle. Texas Agricultural Experiment Station, The Texas A&M University System, MP-1773.

108. Jeffrey, J., et al (1998). Prevalence of selected microbial pathogens in processed poultry waste used as dairy cattle feed. Poultry Science 77:808-811.

109. Muller, Z. O. (1980). Food from animal wastes: states of knowledge. Food and Agriculture Organization Production and Health Paper 18. http://www.fao.org/DOCREP/004/X6518E05.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

110. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Poultry Section (1990). A review of poultry manure management: directions for the future. Report prepared August 17, 1990.

111. Teplitski, Max (2006). E. coli and Salmonella on animal farms: sources, survival and management. Florida Cooperative Extension Service, SL-239. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/SS458 (accessed 08.11.09)

112. Bagley and Evans (1998). "Broiler Litter as a Feed or Fertilizer in Livestock Operations." Mississippi State Univ. Extension Service.

113. ZoBell et al., (1999). UTILIZATION OF TURKEY WASTE MATERIAL IN BEEF CATTLE DIETS. Utah State University Extension, AG 504. http://extension.usu.edu/files/publications/publication/AG504.pdf (accessed 08.11.09)

114. Ruffin and Mc Caskey (1991). Feeding Broiler Litter to Beef Cattle. Alabama Cooperative Extension Service publication ANR -0061. (Discontinued)

115. Rankins, D (2000). Feeding Broiler Litter to Beef Cattle. Alabama Cooperative Extension Service Document ANR-557.

116. Ngwai, YB and Wambebe, C and Adachi, Y (2007) Survivability of Salmonella typhimurium L1388 and Salmonella enteritidis L1225 under stressful growth conditions. Online Journal of Health and Allied Sciences Vol. 6, Issue 2: (2007 Apr-Jun). (http://www.ojhas. org/issue22/2007-2-4.htm accessed 08.11.09)

117. Carter, T.A and M. Poore (1996). DEEP STACKING BROILER LITTER AS A FEED FOR BEEF CATTLE. North Carolina Cooperative Extension Service, AG 515-2. http://www.bae.ncsu.edu/programs/extension/evans/ag515-2.html (accessed 08.11.09)

118. A 1999 review by Anandon et al discusses interactions of macrolides (especially erythromycin and oleandomycin) and polyether ionophorous compounds and associated toxic effects including anorexia, depression, myopathy, and ultrastructural muscle changes. "In summary, when macrolides and ionophoric antibiotics are used in conjunction, abrupt changes in ionophoric antibiotic blood concentrations should be anticipated." Anandon, A. (1999). Macrolide antibiotics, drug interactions, and microsomal enzymes: implications for veterinary medicine. Research in Veterinary Science 66: 197-203.

119. Sweden's 1997 Commission on Antimicrobial Feed Additives warns that people taking antibiotics against infection should not be exposed to residues of the ionophores. "In combination with the narrow safety margin for ionophores the reduced elimination of ionophores

poses an increased risk of intoxication. Monensin, narasin and salinomycin can interact with antibiotics such as chloramphenicol, erythromycin and oleandomycin." (p.174). Commis- 133. Webb and Fontenot (1975). Medicinal Drug Residues in Broiler Litter and Tissues from sion on Antimicrobial Feed Additives (1997). Report. Government Official Reports. 1997; No 132. http://www.sweden.gov.se/sb/d/574/a/54899 (accessed 08.11.09)

120. Catry, (2003). Antimicrobial resistance in livestock. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapy 26:81-93.

121. Silbergeld EK, Graham J, Price LB. (2008) Industrial food animal production, antimi- nol. 17(2):137-46 crobial resistance, and human health. Annu Rev Public Health. 29:151-69.

122. Anderson, (2003). Public Health Consequences of Use of Antimicrobial Agents in Food Animals in the United States. Microbial Drug Resistance 9(4):373-379.

Analysis for the Years 1995 to 2000. Poultry Science 81:356-364.

food-producing animals. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 42: 88-93.

occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. Chemosphere 65, 725-759.

126. Nawaz et al (2001). Human Health Impact and Regulatory Issues Involving Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Animal Production Environment. Regulatory Research Perspectives 1:1.

127. U.S. FDA Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Section 556.360. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?fr=556.360 (accessed 08.11.09)

128. U.S. FDA Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Section 556.428. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?fr=556.428 (accessed 08.11.09)

129. U.S. FDA Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Section 556.592. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?fr=556.592 (accessed 08.11.09)

130. Oehme FW and Pickrell JA, (1999). An analysis of the chronic oral toxicity of polyether ionophore antibiotics in animals. Vet Hum Toxicol. 41(4):251-7.

131. Fourie N, Bastianello SS, Prozesky L, Nel PW, Kellerman TS. 1991. Cardiomyopathy of ruminants induced by the litter of poultry fed on rations containing the ionophore antibiotic, maduramicin. I. Epidemiology, clinical signs and clinical pathology. Onderstepoort J Vet Res. 58(4):291-6.

132. Shlosberg A, et al. (1992). Cardiomyopathy in cattle induced by residues of the coccidiostat maduramicin in poultry litter given as a feedstuff. Vet Res Commun. 1992;16(1):45-58 146. Kobland JD, Gale GO, Gustafson RH, Simkins KL. (1987). Comparison of therapeutic

Cattle Fed Litter. Journal of Animal Science 41: 1212-1218.

134. Levy SB, Marshall B. (2004) Antibacterial resistance worldwide: causes, challenges and responses. Nat. Med. 10:S122-29.

135. Salyers A, Shoemaker NB. 2006. Reservoirs of antibiotic resistance genes. Anim Biotech-

136. White DG, Zhao S, Singh R, McDermott PF. (2004) Antimicrobial resistance among gram-negative foodborne bacterial pathogens associated with foods of animal origin. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2004 1(3):137-52.

123. Chapman, (2002). Use of Antibiotics and Roxarsone in Broiler Chickens in the USA: 137. Silbergeld EK, Graham J, Price LB. (2008) Industrial food animal production, antimicrobial resistance, and human health. Annu Rev Public Health. 29:151-69.

124. Bolelli, L. et al (2006). Bioluminescent bacteria assay of veterinary drugs in excreta of 138. Barza M, Travers K. (2002). Excess infections due to antimicrobial resistance: the "Attributable Fraction". Clin Infect Dis. 34 Suppl 3:S126-30.

125. Sarmah, A.K., et al. (2006). A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, 139. Helmes, Morten et al. (2005). Adverse Health Events Associated with Antimicrobial Drug Resistance in Campylobacter Species: A Registry-Based Cohort Study. JID 191(1):1050-1055

> 140. Varma, Jay K. et al. (2005) Antimicrobial-Resistant Nontyphoidal Salmonella Is Associated with Excess Bloodstream Infections and Hospitalizations. JID 191:554-561

> 141. Helms, Morten et al. (2004) Quinolone Resistance Is Associated with Increased Risk of Invasive Illness or Death during Infection with Salmonella Serotype Typhimurium. JID. 190(1):1652-1654.

> 142. Levy, S.B., G.B. FitzGerald and A.B. Macone (1976) Changes in intestinal flora of farm personnel after introduction of tetracycline-supplemented feed on a farm. New Eng. J. Med. 295:583-588.

> 143. Ladely SR, Harrison MA, Fedorka-Cray PJ, Berrang ME, Englen MD, Meinersmann RJ. (2007). Development of macrolide-resistant Campylobacter in broilers administered subtherapeutic or therapeutic concentrations of tylosin. J Food Prot. 70(8):1945-51

> 144. da Costa PM, Bica A, Vaz-Pires P, Bernardo F. (2008). Effects of Antimicrobial Treatment on Selection of Resistant Escherichia coli in Broiler Fecal Flora. Microb Drug Resist. 2008 Nov 24.

> 145. Berrang ME, Ladely SR, Meinersmann RJ, Fedorka-Cray PJ. (2007). Subtherapeutic tylosin phosphate in broiler feed affects Campylobacter on carcasses during processing. Poult Sci. 86(6):1229-33

versus subtherapeutic levels of chlortetracycline in the diet for selection of resistant salmonella in experimentally challenged chickens. Poult Sci. 66(7):1129-37.

147. McDermott PF, Cullen P, Hubert SK, McDermott SD, Bartholomew M, Simjee S, Wagner DD. Changes in antimicrobial susceptibility of native Enterococcus faecium in chickens fed virginiamycin. Appl Environ Microbiol. 71(9):4986-91.

148. U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2005). Final Rule, Docket No. 2000N-1571. Withdrawal of Approval of the New Animal Drug Enrofloxacin in Poultry. http://edocket.access. gpo.gov/2005/05-15223.htm (accessed 08.11.09)

149. Public Health Agency of Canada. Salmonella Heidelberg – Ceftiofur-Related Resistance in Human and Retail Chicken Isolates. Available from: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/cipars-picra/heidelberg/heidelberg-eng.php (accessed 08.11.09)

150. Ewers C, Antão EM, Diehl I, Philipp HC, Wieler LH. (2008) The chicken intestine and environment as a reservoir for extraintestinal pathogenic E. coli of possible zoonotic potential. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2008 Nov 7.

151. Ewers C, Li G, Wilking H, Kiessling S, Alt K, Antáo EM, Laturnus C, Diehl I, Glodde S, Homeier T, Böhnke U, Steinrück H, Philipp HC, Wieler LH. (2007) Avian pathogenic, uropathogenic, and newborn meningitis-causing Escherichia coli: how closely related are they? Int J Med Microbiol. 297(3):163-76.

152. Johnson TJ, Wannemuehler Y, Johnson SJ, Stell AL, Doetkott C, Johnson JR, Kim KS, Spanjaard L, Nolan LK. (2008) Comparison of extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli strains from human and avian sources reveals a mixed subset representing potential zoonotic pathogens. Appl Environ Microbiol. 74(22):7043-50.

153. Nemati M, Hermans K, Lipinska U, Denis O, Deplano A, Struelens M, Devriese LA, Pasmans F, Haesebrouck F. (2008) Antimicrobial resistance of old and recent Staphylococcus aureus isolates from poultry: first detection of livestock-associated methicillin-resistant strain ST398. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 52(10):3817-9.

154. Kim SH, Wei CI, Tzou YM, An H. (2005). Multidrug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae isolated from farm environments and retail products in Oklahoma. J Food Prot. 68(10):2022-9.

155. Joseph SW, Hayes JR, English LL, Carr LE, Wagner DD. (2001). Implications of multiple antimicrobial-resistant enterococci associated with the poultry environment. Food Addit Contam. 18(12):1118-23.

156. Khan SA, Nawaz MS, Khan AA, Hopper SL, Jones RA, Cerniglia CE. (2005). Molecular characterization of multidrug-resistant Enterococcus spp. from poultry and dairy farms: detection of virulence and vancomycin resistance gene markers by PCR. Mol Cell Probes. 19(1):27-34.

157. Simjee S, McDermott PF, White DG, Hofacre C, Berghaus RD, Carter PJ, Stewart L, Liu T, Maier M, Maurer JJ. (2007). Antimicrobial susceptibility and distribution of antimicrobial-resistance genes among Enterococcus and coagulase-negative Staphylococcus isolates recovered from poultry litter. Avian Dis.51(4):884-92.

158. Thibodeau A, Quessy S, Guévremont E, Houde A, Topp E, Diarra MS, Letellier A. (2008) Antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coll and Enterococcus spp. isolates from commercial broiler chickens receiving growth-promoting doses of bacitracin or virginiamycin. Can J Vet Res. 72(2):129-36.

159. Santos FB, Dsouza DH, Jaykus L, Ferket PR, Sheldon BW (2007). Genotypes, serotypes, and antibiotic resistance profiles of Salmonella isolated from commercial North Carolina turkey farms. J Food Prot. 70(6):1328-33.

160. Diarrassouba F, Diarra MS, Bach S, Delaquis P, Pritchard J, Topp E, Skura BJ (2007). Antibiotic resistance and virulence genes in commensal Escherichia coli and Salmonella isolates from commercial broiler chicken farms. J Food Prot.70(6):1316-27.

161. Wallinga, D (2006). Playing Chicken: Avoiding Arsenic in your Meat. Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy, April 2006. http://www.iatp.org/iatp/publications. cfm?accountID=421&refID=80529 (accessed 08.11.09)

162. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Department of Health and Human Services. Case Studies in Environmental Medicine: Arsenic Toxicity. http://www.atsdr.cdc. gov/csem/arsenic/ (accessed 08.11.09)

163. Hileman, Bette (2007). Arsenic in chicken production. Chemical and Engineering News 85 (15):34-35. http://pubs.acs.org/cen/government/85/8515gov2.html (accessed 08.11.09)

164. Stolz, J. F. et al. (2006). Biotransformation of 3-nitro-4-hydroxybenzene arsonic acid (Roxarsone) and release of inorganic arsenic by Clostridium species. Environmental Science and Technology 31: 818-23.

165. U.S. FDA Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Section 556.60. No tolerance is specified for cattle tissue. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch. cfm?fr=556.60 (accessed 08.11.09)

166. Lu J, Sanchez S, Hofacre C, Maurer JJ, Harmon BG, Lee MD (2003). Evaluation of broiler litter with reference to the microbial composition as assessed by using 16S rRNA and functional gene markers. Appl Environ Microbiol. 69(2):901-8.

167. Nandi S, Maurer JJ, Hofacre C, Summers AO. (2004). Gram-positive bacteria are a major reservoir of Class 1 antibiotic resistance integrons in poultry litter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 101(18):7118-22.

168. Summers AO. (2006) Genetic linkage and horizontal gene transfer, the roots of the antibiotic multi-resistance problem. Anim Biotechnol. 17(2):125-35.

169. Kpomblekou et al. Trace and Nontrace Elements of Broiler Litter. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, Volume 33, Issue 11 & 12 July 2002, pages 1799 – 1811.

170. Bolan et al. (2004). Distribution and Bioavailability of Trace Elements in Livestock and Poultry Manure By-Products. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, Volume 34, Number 3, May-June 2004, pp. 291-338.